
1

Agenda
Contact Officer: Paul Bateman, Democratic Services Officer

Tel: 01235 422523

E-mail: paul.bateman@southandvale.gov.uk

Date: 22 November 2019

Website: www.southoxon.gov.uk

A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee
WILL BE HELD ON MONDAY 2 DECEMBER 2019 AT 6.00 PM

DIDCOT CIVIC HALL, BRITWELL ROAD, DIDCOT, OX11 7JN

Members of the Committee:
Ian Snowdon (Chairman)
Peter Dragonetti (Vice-
Chair)
Ken Arlett
David Bretherton
Kate Gregory

Lorraine Hillier
Alexandrine Kantor
George Levy
Jo Robb

Ian White
Celia Wilson

Substitutes
Sam Casey-Rerhaye
Stefan Gawrysiak
Victoria Haval
Kellie Hinton

Mocky Khan
Axel Macdonald
Jane Murphy
Caroline Newton

Anne-Marie Simpson
Alan Thompson

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These include 
large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any other special 
requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the officer named on 
this agenda.  Please give as much notice as possible before the meeting.

MARGARET REED

Head of Legal and Democratic 

Public Document Pack



2

1 Chairman's announcements  

To receive any announcements from the chairman and general housekeeping matters.

2 Apologies for absence  

To record apologies for absence and the attendance of substitute members.

3 Declarations of interest  

To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on 
the agenda for this meeting.   

4 Urgent business  

To receive notification of any matters which the chairman determines should be 
considered as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the 
matters urgent and to receive any notification of any applications deferred or 
withdrawn.

5 Proposals for site visits  

6 Public participation  

To receive any statements from members of the public that have registered to speak 
on planning applications which are being presented to this committee meeting.  

Development control applications

Planning applications - background papers and additional 
information

All the background papers with the exception of those papers marked 
exempt/confidential (eg those held in enforcement files) used in the reports in this 
agenda are held in the application file (working file) referenced by the application 
number. 

Any additional information received following the publication of this agenda will be 
reported and summarised at the meeting.



3

Summary index of applications

Site Address Proposal Application No Page

7 Land to the 
north of Fields 
End 
Farmhouse, 
Parsons 
Lane/Chaucer 
Court, Ewelme, 
OX10 6HP  

Proposed erection of a detached 
dwelling house with associated 
parking and amenity space 
provision.

P19/S2138/FUL 5 - 22

8 Land at 
Woodcote 
Road, South 
Stoke, RG8 0JJ  

Application for approval of reserved 
matters relating to appearance, 
landscaping, layout and scale 
following application P17/S3206/O 
for residential development (up to 5 
dwellings), and associated works, 
including access (as amended by 
Site Plan PP1012-A, Soft Landscape 
Plan 0747.1.1 Rev D, Landscape 
Visual Impact Assessment V4 
01.10.19 and Preliminary Ecological 
Appraisal Update 2019 and 
amended Construction Method 
Statement and visibility splays 
accompanying email from agent 
received 15 October 2019 and 
Arboricultural Method Statement 
updated October 2019 and Drainage 
Plan 003 Revision P10). Discharge 
of conditions 1-16 on application ref. 
P17/S3206/O.

P19/S2865/RM 23 - 46

9 The Chapel, 
Burcot House, 
Abingdon 
Road, Burcot, 
OX14 3DJ  

Proposed conversion of the de-
consecrated chapel to create a two 
bedroom dwelling house with 
associated parking and amenity 
space provision.

P18/S4261/FUL 47 - 66

10 The Tennis 
Court, land to 
the east of 
Burcot House, 
Abingdon Road 
Burcot, OX14 
3DJ  

Proposed conversion of the existing 
B8 storage building to create 2 x four 
bedroom dwellings with associated 
parking and amenity space provision 
(as amended by additional Flood 
Risk Information received on 24-04-
2019 and revised plan received on 
21-06-2019).  (Revised Flood Risk 

P19/S0025/FUL 67 - 86



4

Assessment received 4 July 2019).

11 Land to the 
south of Creek 
End, Abingdon 
Road, Burcot, 
OX14 3DJ  

Proposed erection of a detached five 
bedroom dwelling and a detached 
double garage.

P19/S0058/FUL 87 - 
104

12 The Old Post 
Office, 5 Wharf 
Road, 
Shillingford, 
OX10 7EW  

Three bay timber framed & clay tiled 
roof with oak clad garage and store.

P19/S2517/FUL 105 - 
116



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

APPLICATION NO. P19/S2138/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 5.7.2019
PARISH EWELME
WARD MEMBER(S) Sue Cooper

Andrea Powell
APPLICANT Dr Mark Enfield
SITE Land to the north of Fields End Farmhouse Parsons 

Lane/Chaucer Court Ewelme, OX10 6HP
PROPOSAL Proposed erection of a detached dwellinghouse with 

associated parking and amenity space provision.
OFFICER David Millinship

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application was deferred from the committee on 6 November 2019 to allow 

members to visit the site. The site visit took place on Friday 29 November 2019.

1.2 The application has been referred to planning committee because the 
recommendation conflicts with the views of the Ewelme Parish Council who object to 
the application. 

1.3 The site is located within the northern fringe of the rural village of Ewelme. It is mostly 
within a conservation area (a portion of the western part of the site is outside the 
conservation area). The site is also considered to be broadly within the historic 
farmyard setting of the grade II listed house at Field’s End. The county council’s 
records confirm that public bridleways (numbered 204/15/10 and 204/16/10) run in 
proximity to the northern site boundary crossing the existing field access. 

1.4 Domestic properties about the south-eastern and south-western boundaries with the 
northern boundary shared with (what appears to be) an unadopted lane. The western 
boundary is shared with a large open field (used for informal grazing of horses). There 
are several trees within the northern area of the site, although these appear to be self-
seeded, possessing little overall landscape merit. There is an existing gated field 
access in the north-eastern area of the site. Ewelme village and the surrounding 
landscape are within the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB).

1.5 A plan identifying the site is attached as Appendix 1.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The proposal is to construct a single, detached dwelling with associated off-road 

parking and turning areas and general site landscaping. The existing field access would 
be used. The dwelling would be single storey, with rooms within the roof space. It would 
sit within the rectilinear plot, running broadly north-east to south-west, set back from the 
lane by approximately 20 metres (6.5 metres from the existing field gate). The dwelling 
would have a depth of approximately 17.5 metres with a width of 6.65m. It would be set 
into the site by approximately 8.9 metres (excluding the porch) from the south-eastern 
boundary shared with the nearest neighbouring property at Orchard House. The 
building would have an eaves height of 2.8 metres and a ridge height of 6.35 metres. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 7

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S2138/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

2.2 Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application are attached at Appendix 2. 
Full copies of the plans and consultation responses are available for inspection on the 
Council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Ewelme Parish Council – Objection;

The Parish Council disagrees that this new dwelling meets the criteria of it being an infill 
development and it will increase traffic on this bridleway. 

Conservation Officer  – No objection; 
The proposed dwelling will align with surrounding built form with the siting and massing 
of the new building being quite discrete in this location. However, a sense of openness 
should be preserved, high closed boarded fencing should be avoided on the north and 
western edges of the site. The plans show a 1.2m post and rail fence supplemented by 
hedging. This is acceptable, but a condition should be applied to prevent erection of 
high enclosures. Subject to conditions, the proposed dwelling would not harm the 
significance of the designated conservation area or conflict with the assessment of 
character as defined in the draft Ewelme Neighbourhood Plan Character Assessment. It 
is also not considered the contribution this site makes to the setting of nearby listed 
buildings would be impacted.

OCC Countryside Access– No objection;
Subject to conditions to prevent temporary obstructions to the adjacent bridleway.

OCC Archaeological Services - No objection; 
The site is located in an area of archaeological interest however the development is of 
a relatively small scale and as such there are no archaeological constraints to this 
scheme.
 
CPRE Oxfordshire – Objection; 
The site is within the Chilterns AONB, the Ewelme Conservation Area and the historic 
core of Ewelme.  This proposal is contrary to the emerging Ewelme Neighbourhood 
Plan regarding the preferred type of housing & preferred location for housing.  The 
application would appear to be contrary to CSR1 due to its situation outside the built 
form of Ewelme it cannot be considered an infill site. Regard should also be had to the 
AONB management plan. 

OCC Highways Liaison Officer - No objection;
Subject to conditions to secure provision of off-road parking and turning areas. 

Contaminated Land – Objection; 
Cannot formally comment as no contamination information has been submitted. An 
informal questionnaire should be completed to identify whether further investigation is 
necessary.  

Neighbour responses:
32 responses to the public consultation were received. 21 responses raised objections 
to the scheme with 11 responses offering support. The objections to the scheme have 
been summarised as follows:

 The site is beyond the current built-up area of the village as highlighted in the 
neighbourhood plan and would not comply with the district’s policy CSR1 (as it 
would not be infill or closely surrounded by buildings). 

 Supporting the scheme would be in conflict with recent appeals in the vicinity of 
the site. 

Page 6

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

 This site could set a president for further development of land beyond the 
boundary of the village, specifically surrounding the access track leading from 
Chaucer Court. 

 Chaucer Court is already a congested area with insufficient parking and has led 
to restricted access for service vehicles on numerous occasions. This site will 
add to this congestion. 

 The lane between Chaucer Court and the site is privately maintained. Additional 
traffic will increase congestion and risk of damage to the lane and properties 
long it.  

 Walkers, school children and horse riders use the adjacent bridle paths 
converging at the site entrance, raising serious safety concerns as increased 
conflict would occur.

 The site is in an unsustainable location and residents would rely on motor cars 
to access services. 

 The development would cause harm to the rural setting of the village, the 
openness of the site, special character of the conservation area and setting(s) of 
nearby listed buildings. 

 There is no Heritage Appraisal to allow a proper understanding of the impact on 
designated Heritage Assets. Ewelme's nearby church, almshouses and school 
are a rare, intact, 15th century survival of national importance. Its setting in the 
village deserves careful conservation.

 Any development should be low and use traditional materials.  
 There is no need for new housing in this small village. 
 The North West corner of this plot contains the grave of “Nancy”, the war horse   

from Ewelme who survived the first World War in France.

Support for the application is as follows (11 responses):
 Local businesses and the school need the village population to increase so that 

local services continue to be supported, particularly as the village has an aging 
population. 

 There is a need for new housing in the village, particularly smaller units for 
young families.  

 The design is in keeping with neighbouring buildings and is small scale so will 
not harm views of the countryside or village from the footpath. 

 The driveway onto the bridleway has been carefully planned to avoid 
walkers/horseriders. 

 It would make good use of an unused piece of land. 

Other non-planning related Matters were also raised:
 The contributions of the applicant to the village infrastructure and village shop 

should be recognised; 
 Development will increase the costs to residents for the upkeep of the lane; 
 New residents will contribute to the upkeep of the lane reducing financial burden 

top existing residents. 
 The new dwelling would be seen within views from surrounding houses leading 

to loss in property value(s).  

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P19/S0298/PEM – Response (18/04/2019)

Proposed erection of a detached dwellinghouse with associated parking and amenity 
space provision.

Page 7

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S0298/PEM


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 Development Plan:

Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 
applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Section 70 (2) of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the local planning authority shall 
have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far as material to the 
application, and to any other material considerations. The council’s adopted 
development plan comprises the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) and the 
saved policies of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP).

SOCS Policies:
 CS1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development;
 CSS1 – The overall strategy;
 CSB1 – Conservation and biodiversity;
 CSEN1 – Landscape;
 CSEN3 – Historic environment; 
 CSM1 – Transport;
 CSQ2 - Sustainable Design and Construction; 
 CSQ3 – Design; 
 CSR1 – Housing in villages.

SOLP Policies: 
 C4 – Landscape setting of settlements; 
 C6 – Biodiversity Conservation;
 C8 – Protected species;
 C9 – Landscape features; 
 CON5 – The setting of listed buildings; 
 CON7 – Conservation areas; 
 CON11, 12 and 13 – Archaeology;
 D1 – Good design and local distinctiveness;
 D2 – Vehicle and bicycle parking;
 D3 – Outdoor amenity space;
 D4 – Privacy and daylight;
 EP1 – pollution; 
 EP2 – Noise and vibration; 
 EP3 – light pollution; 
 G2 – Protection and enhancement of the environment;
 G4 – Development in the countryside and on the edge of settlements;
 H4 – Housing in villages; 
 T1 and 2 - Transport requirements for new developments.

5.2 Paragraph 48 of the NPPF allows for weight to be given to relevant policies in emerging 
plans, unless other material considerations indicate otherwise, and only subject to the 
stage of preparation of the plan, the extent of unresolved objections and the degree of 
consistency of the relevant emerging policies with the NPPF. 

5.3 Neighbourhood Plan:
Ewelme Parish Council are currently working on a draft neighbourhood plan. The 
Parish Council recently ran the statutory pre-submission consultation on the draft plan, 
which ended on 27 July 2019. The local community and statutory consultees were 
invited to offer their comments on the draft neighbourhood plan. The parish council are 
reviewing comments received and making changes to the draft plan before formally 
submitting it to the district council.

Page 8



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

Once the plan has been submitted, the district council will organise a further six-week 
publicity period, inviting comments from the public and statutory consultees. All 
documents and comments received are then submitted for independent examination.

As the plan remains at a pre-examination draft stage only limited weight can be given to 
it in this planning assessment. 
Emerging relevant policies;
EP2: Protection of views
EP3 : A spatial Plan for the parish
EP4: Housing – Protecting our Heritage
EP7: Parking
EP8: Conservation and Heritage Assets
EP9: Sustainable and High Quality Design 

5.4 Emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2034.
The council has submitted the Local Plan 2034 to the Planning Inspector for an 
independent examination following public consultation. 

On 10 October 2019 the Secretary of State for Housing Communities and Local 
Government issued a Holding Direction on the Council in relation to the emerging Local 
Plan 2034. The holding direction has been made under the provisions of Section 21A of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. This means that the emerging plan 
has 'no effect whilst the direction is in force', this is set out in section 21A(2) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. The emerging Local Plan holds no 
weight at present.

5.5 Supplementary Design Guidance:
The South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG). 
 Part 2 - Sections 6 (parking) and 8 (ensuring quality);
 Part 3 – Section 2 (Trees and Landscaping).

5.6 Other Guidance:
 Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Management Plan 2014-2019;
 Chilterns Building Design Guide (February 2010);
 Landscape Character Assessment for the Local Plan 2033 (November 2017).

5.7 National Planning Policy: 
 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

 National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The site is located within a conservation area and within the wider historic setting of the 

grade II listed farmhouse at Field’s End. There are also public rights of way that 
converge at the point of access to the site. As such, the main issues to consider are as 
follows:
 The principle of the development (having regard to new housing and 

countryside policies of the development plan);
 Landscape impact (having regard to the protected characteristics of the 

AONB in the locality);
 Impact on designated heritage assets;
 Highways impacts and impacts on public rights of way;
 Impact on neighbours. 

Page 9



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

6.2
Principle of development
Policy CSS1 of the SOCS details the spatial strategy for new development across the 
district during the plan period. It sets out a settlement hierarchy that seeks to direct 
major new development to the growth point of Didcot, with smaller developments 
supported in the main towns and various sizes of village across the district, specifically:

(iv) supporting other villages in the rest of the district by allowing for 
limited amounts of housing and employment and by the provision and 
retention of services; and
(v) outside the towns and villages, and other major developed sites, 
any change will need to relate to very specific needs such as those of 
the agricultural industry or enhancement of the environment.…

So, the general principle of new residential development within the village is 
supported by the overall spatial strategy as it is considered in policy terms to be 
a sustainable location. However, if the site is considered to fall outside of the 
village the proposed dwelling must be justified by other, very specific needs. 

6.3 Further to the spatial strategy above, SOCS policy CSR1 and SOLP policy H4 together 
set out the development plan provisions (and limitations) for the development of new 
housing in the rural villages across the district. SOCS policy CSR1 supports limited new 
housing developments on infill sites within ‘smaller villages’ such as Ewelme. In this 
case the development site sits at the edge of the village with an open field (thought to 
be used for some form of informal grazing land) extending to the west. CSR1 limits new 
housing sites in ‘smaller villages’ to not exceed 0.2ha in site area (equivalent to 5-6 
houses). In this case the site is approximately 0.1ha in area with the current proposal 
being to construct one dwelling. The development is therefore within the scale 
supported by CSR1.

6.4 SOCS paragraph 13.10 defines infill development as “the filling of a small gap in an 
otherwise built-up frontage or on other sites within settlements where the site is closely 
surrounded by buildings”. In this case, I do not consider the development of the site 
could be considered to be filling a gap in an otherwise built frontage. However, it is 
bounded on three sides by domestic properties and is clearly separated from the open 
field to the west. Whilst I am unconvinced the use of the site is as domestic garden 
land, I consider it does possess a more domestic character than the adjacent field and 
is readily seen (within the most available public views) within the context of the adjacent 
domestic buildings. As such, I accept the site is “closely surrounded by buildings” so the 
broad principle of some form of development is supported by policy CSR1. 

6.5 There is some discrepancy with the emerging Ewelme Neighbourhood Plan policy EP3 
which also allows for infill development within the village’s Built Up areas. Objectors to 
the proposal state that the site is not within the Built Up limits of the village. The lower-
case text of this policy defines the Built-up areas as a group of existing non agricultural 
buildings of a permanent nature and their immediate surroundings. The definition 
specifically excludes gardens, paddocks and other undeveloped land in the curtilage of 
buildings on the edge of the settlement where they provide a transition between the 
surrounding countryside and the Built-up areas of the settlement. The ENP does 
however go on to say the “Proposals located outside the Builtup area of the village will 
be supported only if they are appropriate to a countryside location and they are 
consistent with development plan policies”. Under the Neighbourhood Planning Act. 
2017 (as amended) the plan possesses limited weight so at this stage its policies do not 
outweigh those of the development plan and I have already set out why I consider the 
site to be acceptable infill under Policy CSR1 of SOCS.

Page 10



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

6.6 SOLP policy H4 sets out the following criteria, supporting new housing within the built-
up limits of settlements providing that:

i. an important open space of public, environmental or ecological value is not lost, 
nor an important public view spoilt;

ii. the design, height, scale and materials of the proposed development are in 
keeping with its surroundings;

iii. the character of the area is not adversely affected;
iv. there are no overriding amenity, environmental or highway objections; and
v. if the proposal constitutes backland development, it would not create

problems of privacy and access and would not extend the built limits of the 
settlement.

The policy refers to land within the built-up limits of a defined settlement as a potentially 
acceptable (sustainable) location for new housing development. In line with my 
consideration of SOCS policy CSR1, I accept the site is within the built-up limits of the 
village. It is seen predominantly within the context of adjacent domestic buildings and 
garden areas and has a clear (and historic) functional link to the house at Field’s End 
rather than the larger open field to the west. The village conservation area (CA) also 
includes the application site, with the western site boundary being the village CA 
boundary. The inclusion of the site within the CA does not necessarily define the site as 
being within the built-up limits of the village but, I feel it is a material consideration that 
weighed against my other observations strengthens my view of the site being within the 
Built up limits. The construction of a dwelling within the land would not be seen as an 
extension to the built-limits of the village in my view. SODC’s Conservation Officer 
agrees with this view stating that the proposed building would be aligned with the 
existing barn at Fields End to the south (and existing converted former barns to the 
north) building in this plot would square-off the built-up area, without extending the 
village boundary further into the countryside.

6.7 I have noted comments relating to a recent appeal that was dismissed for the 
construction of one dwelling on land at North Barn, Chaucer Court (LPA ref: 
P18/S2451/FUL). Whilst I must acknowledge the two sites are located in proximity to 
one another, I consider the North Barn site possesses a much more rural character, 
sitting to the north of a fairly well-defined boundary between the northernmost dwelling 
at Chaucer Court and open countryside (see below map for comparison). The appeal 
proposal would clearly have extended the village into the open countryside. The 
application site has a more domestic character and is seen within the context of 
surrounding residential properties rather than the larger open field that extends to the 
west. I am satisfied therefore that the proposed development at the application site 
would not have the same impact as the appeal development and would not extend the 
built-limits of the village into the countryside.  

Page 11



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

Figure 1 - Application site in red to south, approximate appeal site in purple to north

6.8 However, I consider an important public view of the village could potentially be spoilt by 
an inappropriate form of development so there may be a conflict with criteria i). To an 
extent this may be dependent on design matters (also directly relevant to points ii and 
iii) which I intend to explore in further detail below.

6.9 Overall, due to the scale of the proposal and individual site characteristics I consider 
the principle of the development is supported by SOCS policy CSR1 and SOLP policy 
H4. 

6.10 Landscape Character and village setting
There is little uniformity in terms of the general plot layout and character of buildings in 
the vicinity of the site. In the main, surrounding buildings are one-and-a-half to two-
storey structures. Several buildings clearly have historic origins (as former agricultural 
buildings now converted to domestic use), whilst others are more modern additions to 
the village (the dwellings at The Hyde to the north-west and Orchard House to the 
east). 

6.11 The proposed footprint and location of the dwelling is appropriate and not out-of-
alignment with adjacent plots. It would sit broadly in line with the converted barns at 
The Cart House, North Barn and South Barn to the north and the existing two-storey 
barn (now domestic in use) at Field’s End to the south, following a rectilinear layout 
within the plot. The dwelling would be seen as a single storey building, taking design 
queues from the nearby converted barns. It would have low eaves with a dual-pitched 
roof. A small porch and bike store would project from the south-eastern elevation and 
part of the roof of the south-western elevation would overhang a private patio/terrace. 

6.12 There are some trees within the site but, these are semi-mature and likely to be self-
seeded. After viewing them on site, I consider them to be of low landscape quality. The 
larger mature trees lining the southern site boundary are much more prominent 
landscape features that should be protected through any development at the site. 
SODC’s Forestry Officer was given chance to comment on the scheme and has raised 

Page 12



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

no fundamental objections providing tree protection and planting scheme conditions are 
used. In my view the site should not be planted with many new trees (see heritage 
section below for detailed explanation) so, any future planting scheme should be kept 
mainly to shrubs or a few judiciously planted small native tree species to add some 
green screening at a local level without obscuring wider landscape views. 

6.13 The site and wider village are within the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
(AONB) where the NPPF places the highest protection on landscape character. To an 
extent, this area of Ewelme is quite enclosed in terms of wide landscape views. The 
surrounding buildings, topography of the surrounding land and presence of field 
boundaries in close proximity to the site screens it within most landscape views in the 
surrounding area. Due to the small-scale of the development and the design of the 
proposed building, I consider the development would not increase the presence of 
Ewelme within the AONB and I do not feel there is a great potential for the development 
to cause harm to the wider setting of the village or landscape character of the area. The 
visual impacts are likely to be much more localised with potential impacts on the 
character of the conservation area, nearby listed buildings and character of the street 
scene. 

6.14 However, I have had regard to the Chilterns Building Design Guide (CDG) and consider 
the design of the proposed dwelling would be in line with the core principles of it (to 
conserve the rural character of the AONB villages and use natural materials where 
possible). I have assessed the proposed house design against the checklists at 3.9 and 
3.10 of the CDG and consider the scale and form of the proposed building would fit in 
well in relation to the site and neighbouring buildings. For the most part it would be 
subservient in scale but, would reference the form of many of the former agricultural 
buildings in the vicinity. The natural materials and finishes proposed would also reflect 
many of the neighbouring buildings and I consider the proposal would not create a type 
of ‘anywhere’ development the CDG seeks to avoid. 
 

6.15 On balance, I am satisfied the landscape impact of the development would be marginal 
and, in any case, the design, scale and layout of the building would reflect the pattern, 
scale and form of nearby buildings conserving the rural setting of the village and wider 
landscape character of the AONB. 

6.16
Street scene, conservation area and setting of listed buildings
As stated above, I consider wider views of the site and the landscape setting of the 
rural village would not be harmed by the development. However, at a local level the site 
is considered to positively contribute to the conservation area and semi-rural character 
of the street scene at this edge-of-village location. This contribution is partly derived 
from the open nature of the site. It is not uncommon to find small land parcels used for 
semi-domestic/private purposes located at the fringes of rural villages. Often such sites 
would feature buildings (storage or stables for example). The application site has 
retained an open nature, with no permanent buildings, despite much modern 
development occurring at adjacent sites. It is this openness that allows views from the 
PROW into the village and conversation area, particularly from the east. 

6.17 Partly, this is thought to be due to the use of the land in association with Field’s End 
Farm. Historic maps show the application site as having had very similar boundaries for 
a substantial period of time, so its use is highly likely to be closely linked to the former 
farmyard rather than previously being part of the adjacent agricultural land. This 
functional link to the farmhouse appears to have persisted as the wider farmstead has 
been redeveloped and converted into a residential use. The land has been retained by 
the current occupiers of the farm house, informally used as garden for the last ten 
years. As such, the land maintains some historic significance as part of the former 

Page 13



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

farmstead but, this has been greatly diminished by modern housing development on 
surrounding land (that is prominently visible within the backdrop of the site).  

6.18 Constructing a large, overly suburban, modern house within the site would be very 
likely to cause harm to the semi-rural character of the site and wider conservation area 
(CA). A two-storey building (of a commensurate scale to The Hyde or Orchard House 
for example) would block views into the village particularly those limited views of 
historic buildings (the farmhouse and its barn). However, the current proposal is for a 
building of a modest scale, commensurate to a large stable block or agricultural storage 
building It is also of a similar form and materials palette to the converted former barns 
that would have once been part of Field’s End farm. The low eaves and ridge height 
would preserve the long views into the village CA, particularly from the adjacent public 
bridleway that extends to the north-west of the site. The building would also sit broadly 
in line with the ribbon of buildings that runs from North Barn to the listed barn to the 
south of the site, preserving the more domestic appearance of the site without 
encroaching into the open countryside to the north-west. The most prominently visible 
of the surrounding buildings are two-storey (and mainly modern/suburban designs) and 
the proposed dwelling would be subservient in scale to these larger dwellings 
maintaining a form and overall character much more rural in appearance. This would 
help the application site to retain its semi-rural character with the new building sitting 
quite discretely within public views. 

6.19 The placement of a hard-surfaced area between the site access and building would be 
least harmful location and is not an uncommon visual feature along the lane. A planning 
condition can ensure that full details of hard-surfacing locations and materials are 
agreed prior to construction in order to secure natural materials sympathetic to the 
distinctive character of the area. External lighting can also be restricted in order to 
ensure light spill from the development into the AONB is controlled. Excessive planting 
of large trees within the site should also be resisted in order to preserve the relatively 
open views from the adjacent countryside into the CA as well as views of the listed 
farmhouse. Some tree planting in the northern area of the site (between the lane and 
parking area) would be beneficial to add some green screening into the street scene as 
well as serving as replacement of the poor-quality self-seeded trees.

6.20 The district’s Conservation Officer has reviewed the details and has agreed with the 
above assessment. However, they have stated that a sense of openness should be 
preserved, with concern raised that high closed boarded fencing should be avoided on 
the north and western edges of the site. The plans show a 1.2m post and rail fence 
supplemented by hedging. This is acceptable, but a condition should be applied to 
prevent erection of high enclosures under permitted development rights. I consider 
such a condition to be reasonable and necessary. I also consider a condition 
preventing further extensions to the dwelling and construction of substantial 
outbuildings should be used to ensure the key landscape characteristic of the site (its 
openness) is preserved into the future. Subject to conditions, the Conservation Officer 
concludes the proposed dwelling would not harm the significance of the conservation 
area or conflict with the assessment of the village character in the locality (as defined in 
the draft Ewelme Neighbourhood Plan Character Assessment). It is also not considered 
the contribution this site makes to the setting of nearby listed buildings would be 
impacted.

6.21 Subject to the recommended conditions I consider no harm would be caused to the 
special character of the conservation area, settings of nearby listed buildings or the 
general character of the site and locality. The development does not conflict with the 
aims of SOCS policies CSEN1, CSEN3 or CSQ3 nor SOLP policies C4, C9, CON5, 
CON7, D1, EP3, G2, G4 and H4.  

Page 14



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

6.22
Highways impacts
The application site is accessed via a private lane that extends some 95 metres from 
the metalled section of Chaucer Court. Beyond Chaucer Court the private lane serves 
several dwellings, it has no pavement but is wide enough to accommodate two vehicles 
passing. Public Right of Way (PROW) number 204/15/10 runs along the private land 
from south-east to north-west extending into open countryside beyond the rear (north-
western boundary) of The Hyde. A PROW numbered 204/16/10 runs north-east 
perpendicular to the PROW 204/15.   

6.23 The site is sufficiently large enough to accommodate off-road parking and turning areas 
to serve the new dwelling. Vehicles would be able to enter and exit the site in a forward 
gear via the existing gated access that is set back from the private lane by 
approximately one domestic car length. There is some potential for users of PROW 
204/15 to meet vehicular traffic entering and existing the site but, as I have assessed 
on site, visibility to and from the access is good and users of the PROW will reasonably 
expect to meet with some traffic on entering a village. The County Council Highways 
Liaison Officer has stated that, given the characteristics of the lane, vehicular traffic 
numbers and speeds are considered to be relatively low and the proposal is unlikely to 
have a significant adverse impact on the highway network.

6.24 The County Council Highways Liaison Officer has offered no objection to the 
development subject to the use of conditions to secure provision of the off-road parking 
and turning areas. In order to avoid conflict with users of the adjacent PROW during the 
construction period conditions have been requested to ensure the PROW is kept free of 
temporary obstructions and the PROW route and signage are left unaltered. I consider 
a condition requiring that no construction site deliveries or contractor vehicles are 
allowed to take place/park outside of the site is also reasonable. 

6.25 Several third-party objections have raised concerns over additional traffic and conflict 
with existing road users. It has been noted that Chaucer Court is heavily parked at 
evenings and weekends, when local residents are not at work. It would seem 
unreasonable to expect that future occupiers of the new dwelling would need to park at 
Chaucer Court and traffic increases from the development are likely to be low 
(particularly taking into account that the existing access has some use already). I 
cannot consider that the development would result in an adverse impact on current 
users of the highway at Chaucer Court.  

6.26 Subject to the recommended conditions I consider that safe access can be achieved 
along with enough off-road parking and turning. The development will not cause harm 
to highway safety in the locality over and above the existing situation and is in 
accordance with the provisions of policies CSM1 of the SOCS and D2, H4, T1 and T2 
of the SOCS. 

6.27
Impact on neighbours
The proposed dwelling would be relatively low in height (compared to neighbouring 
buildings) and in my view due to the orientation within the site it would not have 
potential to cause any loss of light to neighbouring property. There would be roof lights 
serving habitable rooms but, these would face away from Orchard House (the nearest 
neighbouring property). Ground floor windows would be screened by an existing 
boundary wall (and in any case separation distances would exceed the SODG 2016 
guidelines). Planning conditions can be used to prevent the installation of rooflights 
within the south-eastern roof plane (that could overlook the garden at Orchard House). 
Subject to the recommended conditions I consider the development would comply with 
the aims of SOCS policy CSQ3 and SOLP policies D1, D4, G2 and H4. 

Page 15



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

6.28 There is some potential for noise and disturbance to be caused to neighbours during 
the construction period of the development. Given the site access location, potential 
highways issues and proximity of the PROWs I consider (as stated above) that a 
condition of the permission should ensure that all site deliveries and contractor parking 
takes place within the site. Other more relevant legislative controls should limit 
excessive noise and dust, although due to the small-scale of the development there 
would be a low risk of excessive disturbance. Subject to the recommended condition 
the development would comply with the aims of SOLP EP1 and EP2. 

6.29
Other matters
Several neighbour objections raised concerns over the added costs relating to the 
maintenance of the private lane that may occur as a result of the development. This 
would be a civil matter to be negotiated between existing residents and future 
occupiers/owners of the site and is not a material planning consideration with any 
bearing on the assessment of this application. Similarly, any drop in the value of 
neighbouring properties is not a material planning consideration nor are the previous 
actions of the applicant that may have benefitted village businesses and infrastructure. 

6.30 Several third-party comments have also raised the matter of compliance of the 
proposed development with the emerging Ewelme Neighbourhood Plan. A draft version 
of the plan has progressed through the first public consultation but, has yet to proceed 
to independent examination. Under the Neighbourhood Planning Act. 2017 (as 
amended) the plan possesses limited weight so at this stage its policies do not 
outweigh those of the development plan. 

6.31 The district council’s Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) charging schedule applies to 
all relevant proposals from 1 April 2016. CIL is a planning charge that local authorities 
can implement to help deliver infrastructure and to support the development of their 
area. It is primarily calculated on the increase in footprint created as a result of new 
development. A CIL charge will be liable to be paid for the proposed dwelling. 

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 Officers recommend that planning permission is granted because the development 

would not cause harm to the character and appearance of the street scene, the special 
character of the village conservation area, settings of nearby listed buildings, landscape 
setting of the rural village or landscape character of the wider Chilterns AONB. Further 
to this, the development would not give rise to harm to neighbouring residential 
amenities and sufficient mitigation can be secured to minimise impacts on biodiversity, 
the local environment and highways network. The proposal is therefore in accordance 
with the relevant development plan policies. Subject to the recommended conditions it 
would be a sustainable form of development and planning permission should be 
granted in line with the provisions of policy CS1 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 
2026.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 Planning permission is granted subject to the following conditions

1. Three-year time limit;
2. Approved plans;
3. Tree protection (prior to commencement);
4. Schedule of materials (prior to above-ground construction);
5. Planting scheme (trees and shrubs); 
6. Boundary enclosures (construction prior to occupation and retained);
7. Drainage (foul and surface water systems installed prior to occupation);

Page 16



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

8. Provision of parking and turning areas (in accordance with full 
construction details, prior to occupation);

9. Access improvements (full construction details prior to occupation);
10. Public right of way - no obstructions/diversions; 
11. Unexpected contamination; 
12. External lighting restriction;
13. Removal of PD rights Classes A and E (AONB and con. area reason). 

Author:         David Millinship
Contact No:  01235 422600
Email:            planning@southoxon.gov.uk

 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



P19/S2138 - Land to the north of Fields End Farmhouse 

Parsons Lane/Chaucer Court 

Appendix 1 – conservation area hatched 

Appendix 1

Page 19

Agenda Item 7P19/S2138/FUL

SAV_SHACRA
Arrow

SAV_SHACRA_1
Typewriter
Conservation area hatched

SAV_SHACRA_2
Typewriter
Applicationsite



Scale 1:100

1m0m 2m 3m 4m 5m 7m6m 8m 9m 10m

1902/12

A

Living

Kitchen UtilityEn-Suite

Dining

Bedroom 1

Up

Coats

Entrance

Bike St

CL

Lobby

1902/12

A

En-suite

En-suite

Bedroom 2

Linen St

Up

Dressing Dressing

Study

1.8m head height

1.5m head height

Bedroom 3

Bedroom 3

Living

Proposed Ground Floor Plan

1:100 @ A1

All dimensions to be checked on site prior to the
commencement of any construction.

The Studio, 22 Tower Close, Emmer Green, Berkshire, RG4 8UU

Tel: 07966489926, E-mail: office@mastersarchitecture.uk

ALL COPYRIGHT RESERVED
C

This drawing may not be reproduced without
written consent from Masters Architecture.

masters ARCHITECTURE

Drawing No:
Date:
Scale:

Drawing:
Project:
Client:

Revision:             Date: Change:

Drawn by: Approved:

Fields End Farmhouse, Ewelme, OX10 6HP
Dr Enfield

Proposed House Plans & Elevations

1:100 @ A1
July 2019

1902 12
LM

---

N

Proposed First Floor Plan

1:100 @ A1

Proposed North-east Elevation

1:100 @ A1

Proposed South-east Elevation

1:100 @ A1

Proposed South-west Elevation

1:100 @ A1

Proposed North-west Elevation

1:100 @ A1

Proposed House:

Proposed Roof Plan

1:100 @ A1

External windows and doors to be timber.
Colour: Black.

Typical Section A-A

1:100 @ A1

Materials Key:

Roof: Plain Clay Tile

Brickwork. Colour: Red

Timber Cladding with Black Paint Finish

N
N

Gross Internal Floor Areas:

Ground Floor 100.2m²

First Floor (1.5m and above) 49.8m²

Total: 150m²

Appendix 2

P
age 20



5m0m

Scale 1:200

10m 15m

W

o

o

d

e

n

 

P

o

s

t

 

W

i

r

e

 

F

e

n

c

e

W

o

o

d

e

n

 

P

o

s

t

 

W

i

r

e

 

F

e

n

c

e

Parking &

turning area

Bins

New trees & planting

1

.

2

m

 

P

o

s

t

 

&

 

r

a

i
l
 

f

e

n

c

e

 

w

i
t

h

 

n

a

t

i
v

e

 

h

e

d

g

e

 

b

e

h

i
n

d

N

a

t

i
v

e

 

h

e

d

g

e

N

a

t

i
v

e

 

h

e

d

g

e

N

a

t

i
v

e

 

h

e

d

g

e

Orchard House

T

h

e

 

C

a

r

t

 

H

o

u

s

e

The Hyde

House

1

.
2

m

 
P

o

s

t
 
&

 
r
a

i
l
 
f
e

n

c

e

w

i
t
h

 
n

a

t
i
v

e

 
h

e

d

g

e

 
b

e

h

i
n

d

Existing Access

For more detailed Tree information

please refer to Arboricultural Report

1

9

0

2

/

1

1

A

1

9

0

2

/

1

1

A

All dimensions to be checked on site prior to the
commencement of any construction.

The Studio, 22 Tower Close, Emmer Green, Berkshire, RG4 8UU

Tel: 07966489926, E-mail: office@mastersarchitecture.uk

ALL COPYRIGHT RESERVED
C

This drawing may not be reproduced without
written consent from Masters Architecture.

masters ARCHITECTURE

Drawing No:
Date:
Scale:

Drawing:
Project:
Client:

Revision:             Date:                          Change:

Drawn by: Approved:

Fields End Farmhouse, Ewelme, OX10 6HP
Dr Enfield

Proposed Site Plan & Site Section

1:200 @ A1
July 2019

1902 11
LM

---

N

Materials Key:

Vehicle Access: Gravel Drive

Pedestrian Circulation: Paving

Outline Site Section A-A

1:200 @ A1

P
age 21



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 2 December 2019

APPLICATION NO. P19/S2865/RM
APPLICATION TYPE RESERVED MATTERS
REGISTERED 17.9.2019
PARISH SOUTH STOKE
WARD MEMBER(S) Maggie Filipova-Rivers
APPLICANT Annington Development Limited
SITE Land at Woodcote Road South Stoke, RG8 0JJ
PROPOSAL Application for approval of reserved matters relating 

to appearance, landscaping, layout and scale 
following application P17/S3206/O for residential 
development (up to 5 dwellings), and associated 
works, including access.  (As amended by Site Plan 
PP1012-A, Soft Landscape Plan 0747.1.1 Rev D, 
Landscape Visual Impact Assessment V4 01.10.19 
and Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Update 2019 
and amended Construction Method Statement and 
visibility splays accompanying email from agent 
received 15 October 2019 and Arboricultural Method 
Statement updated October 2019 and Drainage 
Plan 003 Revision P10)  Discharge of conditions 1-
16 on application ref. P17/S3206/O.

OFFICER Paul Bowers

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 The application has been referred to planning committee due to conflict between the 

Officer’s recommendation and the views of the parish council.

1.2 The site is to the south of Woodcote Road on the edge of South Stoke. Appendix1 
provides a site location plan.

South Stoke is a small village between Wallingford and Goring and sits within the River 
Thames corridor that runs to the west of the village.  The village and application site are 
washed over by the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), but there 
are no other planning designations or constraints that affect the site.   

1.3 Outline planning permission was granted by Planning Committee in January 2018 for 
the erection of up to 5 dwellings. All matters were kept in reserve except for details of 
the site access that were approved through the outline planning permission.

1.4 An application was made under reference P19/S0171/RM for the reserved matters that 
were outstanding from the outline planning permission and sought to discharge the 
various items which were the subject of planning conditions. 

That application was refused for a single reason as follows;

1. Plot 4 of the proposed scheme, due to the scale, layout, appearance, 
inadequate separation distance to the neighbouring dwelling and lower 
ground level of the neighbouring dwelling (Clogwyn Mawr to the west), 
would have an overbearing impact upon the outlook from east facing 
windows of the neighbouring property resulting in unacceptable harm on 

Page 23

Agenda Item 8

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S2865/RM


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 2 December 2019

the residential amenities of neighbouring occupiers contrary to policy 
CSQ3 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 and policies D1, D4, G2 
and H4 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The application seeks to secure approval of the remaining reserved matters for 

appearance, landscaping, layout, and scale. Details have also been submitted to 
discharge the conditions of the outline permission relating to drainage, tree protection, 
ecology and highway matters.

2.2 Much of the scheme remains very similar to that proposal which had been found to be 
acceptable to the Council in all but one regard. The application differs in ways to make 
acceptable the impact of the proposed dwelling on Plot 4 on Clogwyn Mawr. The 
differences are:

 Swapping the fence and the hedge relationship between Plot 4 and Clogwyn 
Mawr (maintaining the post and rail boundary fence but behind it including a 
vacant maintenance strip to the Clogwyn Mawr side and hedging outside the 
privacy fence for a softer outlook)

 Position of Plot 4 has been moved to the east to allow 12m separation from 
Clogwyn Mawr, created by the removal of a single storey element

 Omitting any windows facing Clogwyn Mawr

 Removing the fencing to the plot frontages of Plots 1, 4 and 5 to create a more 
open arrangement.

2.2 Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application are attached at Appendix 
2. Full copies of the plans and consultation responses are available for inspection on 
the Council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 South Stoke Parish Council – Object for the following summarised reasons;

- The quantum of development has increased since the outline of development.
- The development appears denser.
- Loss of habitats.
- Request that a tree preservation order is put in place to protect trees on the site.
- The overall height and mass of Plot 4 is very similar to the refused scheme.
- The buildings are too high and impact on the AONB.
- The footprint of the buildings does not reflect a rural layout on the edge of a 

settlement. 
- Over provision of 4 plus bedroom homes.

Neighbour Responses – 3 x letters of objection covering the following summarised 
headline concerns;

- The height and scale of the building on Plot 4 has not materially changed and 
will result in an oppressive and overbearing effect on Clogwyn Mawr.

- The proposed hedge line and maintenance strip on the boundary of Clogwyn 
Mawr is unlikely to be maintained.

- The development has increased in bedroom number and overall size.
- Loss of sunlight and overshowing of Clogwyn Mawr.
- Want to see protection of trees on the site.
- Concern over the potential for the conversion of garages.

Page 24

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 2 December 2019

The Chilterns Conservation Board – The application reserved matters respond to the 
AONB context and landscape character. The use of high-quality materials and the 
reinforcement of the existing native tree screen will serve to reinforce that character.

County Archaeological Services – No objection. 

Forestry Officer - No objection subject to a condition that requires the tree protection 
measures to be undertaken as per the details submitted with the application. 

Countryside Officer - No strong views

Drainage – No objection on the basis of the details submitted with the application to 
deal with the relevant conditions of the outline planning permission. 

Highways Liaison Officer – No objection subject to conditions.

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P19/S0171/RM - Refused (05/07/2019)

Reserved matters application (for the appearance, landscaping, layout, and scale) 
following Outline approval P17/S3206/O for a residential development of up to 5 
dwellings, and associated works, including access. 

In addition to discharge conditions 5- landscaping, 6- tree protection, 7- biodiversity 
mitigation and enhancement strategy, 11- construction traffic management, , 13- refuse 
and recycling storage and 16- construction method statement.
P17/S3206/O - Approved (18/01/2018)
Residential development (up to 5 dwellings), and associated works, including 
access.(as amplified & amended by information received 13 November 2017)..

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Policies
CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSB1  -  Conservation and improvement of biodiversity
CSEN1  -  Landscape protection
CSH4  -  Meeting housing needs
CSR1  -  Housing in villages

South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) policies;
C4  -  Landscape setting of settlements
C6  -  Maintain & enhance biodiversity
C8  -  Adverse affect on protected species
D1  -  Principles of good design
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
EP1  -  Adverse affect on people and environment
EP2  -  Adverse affect by noise or vibration
EP3  -  Adverse affect by external lighting
EP6  -  Sustainable drainage
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
G4  -  Protection of Countryside
H4  -  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt

Page 25

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S0171/RM
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/S3206/O


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 2 December 2019

T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

5.2 Neighbourhood Plan:
South Stoke Parish Council are currently not preparing a neighbourhood plan.

5.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents:
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016).

5.4 Third party guidance:
 South Stoke Housing Developments - Development Survey Analysis & 

Implications;
 South Stoke Housing Survey – July/August 2017;
 Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Management Plan 2014-2019;
 Chilterns Building Design Guide (February 2010);
 Landscape Character Assessment for the Local Plan 2033 (November 2017).

5.5 Paragraph 48 of the NPPF allows for weight to be given to relevant policies in emerging 
plans, unless other material considerations indicate otherwise, and only subject to the 
stage of preparation of the plan, the extent of unresolved objections and the degree of 
consistency of the relevant emerging policies with the NPPF. 

Emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2034.
The council has submitted the Local Plan 2034 to the Planning Inspector for an 
independent examination following public consultation. 
  
On 10 October 2019 the Secretary of State for Housing Communities and Local 
Government issued a Holding Direction on the Council in relation to the emerging Local 
Plan 2034. The holding direction has been made under the provisions of Section 21A of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. This means that the emerging plan 
has 'no effect whilst the direction is in force', this is set out in section 21A(2) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. The emerging Local Plan has no weight 
at this stage

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 

applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the local 
planning authority shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far 
as material to the application, and to any other material considerations. The council’s 
adopted development plan comprises the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) and 
the saved policies of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP).

6.2 The outline planning permission granted in January 2018 (ref: P17/S3206/O) has 
established both the principle of the residential development (for up to five dwellings) 
and the location and design of the site access. As such, there is no requirement for me 
to re-assess the principle of the development. The main issues to take into account are 
as follows:

 Whether the reserved matters details comply with the parameters of the 
development established at outline stage;

 Assessment of the appearance, landscaping, layout and scale with 
regards to:

Page 26



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 2 December 2019

o The impact on the special character of the AONB, the site and wider 
area.

o Impact on neighbouring amenities.
o Provision of parking and turning areas;

 Refuse and recycling
 Drainage
 CIL. 

6.3 Compliance with outline planning permission

The reserved matters are for the construction of 5 dwellings (three detached and a pair 
of semi-detached buildings). Conditions 3 and 4 of the outline planning permission 
sought to restrict the maximum number of dwellings to be constructed to five and also 
sought to secure an appropriate market housing mix. The detailed scheme is for five 
dwellings with a mixture of 1 no. 2-bedroom dwelling, 2 no. 3-bedroom dwellings, 1 no. 
4-bedroom dwelling and 1 no. 5-bedroom dwelling. 

6.4 The scheme is not considered to be of a large enough scale to be required (by policy) 
to provide dedicated affordable units (and as such no conditions or legal agreements 
were sought at outline planning stage). At outline planning stage an indicative housing 
mix was put forward (2x 2-beds, 1x 3-bed and 2x 4+ bedroom dwellings). 

The proposed housing mix differs from the indicative mix given at outline stage and I 
note objections to this. Condition 4 attached to the outline permission sought to secure 
only an ‘appropriate market housing mix’, with no links to local needs, district wide 
needs or specific numbers of house types. 

SOCS policy CSH4 defines a broad approach to housing mix but, does not place 
specific requirements on small-scale developments. Therefore, I must rely on other 
evidence available to me. 

6.5 I have had regard to the Oxfordshire Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA), 
the South Stoke Housing Developments - Development Survey Analysis & Implications 
(SSHD) and the South Stoke Housing Survey – July/August 2017 (SSHS) as the latest 
evidence of housing need in the area. Whilst I note the Parish Council’s objection, the 
evidence within the SSHD and SSHS does not entirely support the need for solely 
smaller units in the village. The 2017 SSHS suggests there are local residents who 
would be interested in upsizing and downsizing. The earlier SSHD also illustrates 
greater support for smaller/starter homes and family homes with less local support for 
larger houses to be provided but, the definitions of what constitute ‘family homes’ or 
‘larger homes’ are not clear. The proposal does present a mixture of housing types that 
would appear to suit the broad needs of the area. Given the small-scale of the scheme I 
consider the current proposal represents an appropriate market housing mix and I have 
no strong evidence to reach an alternative conclusion. 

6.6 Overall, I consider the proposal is within the parameters established at outline planning 
permission stage and does not conflict with current planning policy relating to housing 
mix. 

6.7 The impact on the special character of the AONB, the site and wider area.

The site is within the Chilterns AONB which, in planning policy terms, secures the 
highest level of landscape protection (NPPF para.172). 

Page 27



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 2 December 2019

The AONB is a predominantly rural area defined by its high level of scenic beauty and 
tranquil rural character. New development is strictly controlled, particularly where there 
would be adverse impacts on the landscape and character of the area. 
SOCS policy CSEN1(ii) states that high priority will be given to conservation and 
enhancement of the Chilterns and North Wessex Downs Areas of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty (AONBs) and planning decisions will have regard to their setting

6.8 Within the South Oxfordshire Landscape Character Assessment (2017) (LCA) the 
village of South Stoke is defined as being within the River Thames Corridor (Flat 
floodplain pasture character sub-area) with the open countryside to the east of the 
village as within the Central Vale Fringes (Open rolling downs sub-area). The site is 
currently an open field although bounded by mature trees and shrubs. The countryside 
to the east and north is very open with sparse field boundaries. At outline planning 
stage the officer’s view was that the proposal would not result in significant landscape 
harm, subject to appropriate conditions, as the proposal made use of an existing well-
screened parcel of land. It was also stated that future reserved matters submissions 
should follow the broad recommendations of the draft LCA. 

6.9 For the River Thames Corridor character area, the LCA recommends the following:

 Minimise the visual impact of intrusive land uses at the fringes of towns, villages 
and farms with the judicious planting of tree and shrub species characteristic of 
the area. This will help to screen the development and integrate it more 
successfully with its surrounding countryside;

 Maintain the nucleated pattern of settlements, and promote the use of building 
materials to maintain vernacular style and a scale of development and that are 
appropriate to River Thames Corridor (see also the South Oxfordshire Design 
Guide, November 2016);

 Protect the sparsely settled character of the landscape and the integrity and 
vernacular character of the estate villages.

The LCA recommends the following for the Central Vale Fringes character area:

 Minimise the visual impact of intrusive land uses at the fringes of towns and 
villages with the judicious planting of tree and shrub species characteristic of the 
area. This will help to screen the development and integrate it more successfully 
with its surrounding countryside;

 Maintain the nucleated pattern of settlements, and promote the use of building 
materials to maintain vernacular style and a scale of development and that are 
appropriate to Central Vale Fringes. 

6.10 In this case, the site is already bounded by an established mature tree line and the 
applicant proposes to add to this through the implementation of a site planting scheme. 

The district council’s Forestry Officer has confirmed that the proposed planting scheme 
will help to secure the long-term tree cover around the perimeters of the site. The 
Forestry Officer has considered the detailed tree information supporting the application 
which also includes tree protection measures and a landscaping details required by 
Condition 5 of the outline permission. Providing that that the development is carried out 
in accordance with the measures set out in the supporting information the development 
is considered acceptable. An appropriately worded condition is proposed to ensure that 
this is the case. 

I also consider that householder permitted development rights should be removed as 
this would prevent future uncontrolled development (potentially rear and side 

Page 28



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 2 December 2019

extensions and outbuildings) being constructed within the RPAs of trees to be retained 
(this would also prevent potential increased impacts on neighbours and future 
occupiers of the scheme).

6.11 Several objections have been made with regards to the premature removal of trees 
adjacent to the main site access and there is concern that further tree protection 
(through a tree protection order) is required to preserve the mature tree-lined 
boundaries and the visual screening they secure. As stated above, tree protection 
measures have been proposed to ensure that existing trees are protected during the 
construction period and it has been confirmed by the Forestry Officer that the details 
are acceptable. As such, it would seem unreasonable to attempt to secure further 
formal protection (and in any case the retention of the mature trees would be linked to 
the site landscaping scheme condition). 

Some concern has also been raised that there will be pressure for trees to be felled by 
future occupiers of the site in order to secure improvements to daylight and outlook. 
The proposed site layout suggests to me that occupiers of the new dwellings would 
have sufficient access to daylight and open garden areas that would not be 
overshadowed. I acknowledge that some overshadowing of the rear gardens of plots 4 
and 5 may occur during the earlier hours of the day but this is unlikely to be severe and 
I am satisfied future pressure to feel the trees would not be significant.

6.12 The proposed buildings would be partially visible within the local street scape and 
possibly within the wider landscape (particularly during winter months). The new 
dwellings would be predominantly two storey buildings with some single storey 
projections. Some objections have been made due to the relationship the proposed two 
storey buildings would have with the adjacent bungalows at Clogwyn Mawr and 
Summerfield to the west (it is suggested the dwellings should be single storey). I 
acknowledge that the proposed dwellings would be taller than the directly adjacent 
dwellings but, in terms of the general scale of buildings in the street scene I consider 
the existing bungalows are not prominent buildings (they are screened in most views 
along Woodcote Road) and do not represent the predominant type of dwelling in the 
wider village. The majority of (much more visible) buildings in the street scene are two-
storey and I do not consider there is justification on visual impact grounds to secure 
single storey (to one-and-a-half storey) buildings at this site. No restrictions to the 
overall heights of buildings were imposed at outline planning stage to justify such a 
requirement. 

6.13 The proposed materials palette and design approach, that incorporates some 
architectural features common to rural buildings in an overall contemporary 
development, would minimise potential harm to the wider AONB and impact on the 
street scene in the locality. The buildings would be laid out in a courtyard development 
echoing modern barn conversion developments commonly seen at edge-of-village 
locations. 

Some concern has been raised over the amount of hard-surfaced areas but, in my view 
subject to securing appropriate natural materials (where possible) I do not consider this 
would be harmful. I also consider that details of any external lighting should be secured 
in order to ensure light spillage into the AONB is kept to a minimum. There are some 
larger windows facing east and south (outwards into the AONB). The adjacent trees to 
be retained would screen much of the light spill from internal living areas but, external 
lighting could have a more severe effect so should be controlled.

6.14 Boundary enclosures would be comprised of post and rail fencing infilled with native 
hedge planting along the north, east and southern intervening boundaries (shared with 

Page 29



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 2 December 2019

open countryside). A feather-edged timber fence would be installed along the eastern 
intervening boundary shared with the more suburban built-up area of the village. 

Generally, I consider the proposed boundary enclosures would help to preserve the 
setting of the site and wider village within the rural landscape whilst securing some 
privacy between the site and adjacent dwellings. The use of feather-edged timber 
fencing along the eastern boundary is considered to be acceptable in visual impact 
terms as the character of the village to the east is more suburban and feather-edged 
fencing is not an uncommon feature within the village.

6.15 Although they did not comment on the original outline planning application the Chilterns 
AONB board have considered this reserved matters application. In summary they have 
not objected to the development. Of relevance to the broader impact of the proposal 
they have commented that the reserved matters respond to the AONB context and 
landscape character. The use of high-quality materials and the reinforcement of the 
existing native tree screen will serve to reinforce that character.

6.16 At this edge of village location, I consider the design approach is acceptable and, 
subject to the recommended conditions, no harm would be caused to the special 
landscape characteristics of the AONB. I therefore consider the details relating to 
landscaping, appearance, scale and layout are acceptable and would conserve the 
special landscape character of the AONB, the setting of the village within the rural 
landscape and the character and appearance of the site within the street scene in line 
with the aims of SOCS CSEN1 and SOLP policies C4, C9, D1, G2 and G4. 

6.17 Impact on neighbouring amenities.

Impact on residential amenity is normally considered in terms of whether a 
development results in material harm by way of overlooking, loss of sunlight or being so 
large and close that it is considered oppressive and overbearing. 

Policies H4 and D4 of the SOLP seek to protect the amenities of the occupants of 
nearby properties.

6.18 The single reason for refusal of the recent reserved matters application P19/S0171/RM 
as set out in paragraph 1.4 of this report related solely to the impact on the adjoining 
property Clogwyn Mawr;

1. Plot 4 of the proposed scheme, due to the scale, layout, appearance, 
inadequate separation distance to the neighbouring dwelling and lower 
ground level of the neighbouring dwelling (Clogwyn Mawr to the west), 
would have an overbearing impact upon the outlook from east facing 
windows of the neighbouring property resulting in unacceptable harm on 
the residential amenities of neighbouring occupiers contrary to policy 
CSQ3 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 and policies D1, D4, G2 
and H4 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

The main difference between this application and the previous reserved matter 
application is the relationship between Plot 4 and Clogwyn Mawr. 

Page 30



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 2 December 2019

The refused scheme;                            The proposed scheme;

             

The distance between the boundary and the side elevation of the house at Plot 4 as 
previously proposed was 5.3 metres at is nearest point and 5.6 metres at its furthest. 

The distance between the east facing wall of Clogwyn Mawr and the side wall of Plot 4 
was 9.4 metres when taken from the centre of the wall of Plot 4.

The distance has increased between the boundary and the side of Plot 4 by 3.1 to 8.4 
at its nearest point and by 2.8 x to 8.4 metres.

The distance has increased between the east facing wall of Clogwyn Mawr and the side 
facing wall of Plot 4 by 2.7 to 12.1 metres

There is contention as to whether the eastern elevation of Clogwyn Mawr is the rear or 
the side of the dwelling. The council has no minimum standard for side to side 
separation distances. If it were deemed to be the rear, then there is an advised 
distance of 12 metres between the rear of one building and the side of another. In this 
the revised development would meet that standard. 

In addition to the increased separation between the two properties as shown above the 
fence and hedge relationship has been swapped on the boundary between Plot 4 and 
Clogwyn Mawr in that a hedge is shown on the boundary with a fence behind it and the 
inclusion of maintenance strip.

Plot 4 does not propose any windows either at ground or first floor looking toward 
Clogwyn Mawr. A planning condition is proposed which seeks to ensure that remains 
the case by removing permitted development rights. 

In my considered view the changes to the scheme address the fundamental issue of 
neighbourliness set out in the refusal reason and on balance I conclude that the 
development does not result in a materially harmful impact to the occupants of Clogwyn 
Mawr. 

Page 31



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 2 December 2019

6.19 Highway Impacts and Construction and traffic management

The issue of the access was a fixed matter in the outline planning permission. An 
access in the location proposed for up to five dwellings was considered acceptable in 
highway safety terms. The outline application was the subject of several highway 
related conditions notably Conditions 10 which sought to protect the proposed visibility 
splays at the junction, Condition 11 which secured a Construction Traffic Management 
Plan (CTMP), Condition 12 that no surface water should be discharged on to the 
highway and Condition 16 which sought a Construction Method Statement (CMS). 

6.20 A CMS and CTMP have been submitted to satisfy conditions 11 and 16 of the outline 
planning permission. The construction method statement details that the central area of 
the site (to be finished as the hard-surfaced courtyard turning area) would be the main 
compound area for the site with materials storage, site office and contractor parking all 
continued outside of the tree protection areas. A wheel wash facility would be provided 
at the site access. The document also details the various methods of controlling 
construction noise and dust and I am satisfied the proposed methods will offer a good 
level of mitigation. 

6.21 The CTMP details that construction vehicles will approach the development site from 
the west, via Woodcote Road. Woodcote Road connects to the B4009 (Wallingford 
Road), which in turn connects to the A4130, providing a direct link to the A34, for 
vehicles arriving from the north and the south. The A34 provides a connection to the M4 
to the south and the A40, A44 and M40 to the north. It is proposed to erect appropriate 
signage to instruct construction and delivery vehicles of the direction to take, to and 
from the development site. All signage related to the construction works will be 
maintained and regularly inspected. The operating hours of the site will be between 
08:00 to 18:00 from Monday to Friday and 08:00 to 13:00 on a Saturday. No works will 
be undertaken on Sundays and Bank Holidays without prior approval.  Deliveries during 
the morning and afternoon peak traffic times will be avoided where possible.

6.22 The application now shows a fixed layout, number of bedrooms, parking and areas for 
turning. The Highway Authority have considered these details and are satisfied that the 
development provides for adequate standards in these respects. 

Planning conditions are however proposed which seek the retention of these areas and 
the garage accommodation and these form part of this recommendation. 

6.23 On balance, I am satisfied the submitted documents detail sufficient measures to 
mitigate for the environmental and traffic impacts of the construction of the 
development. The development therefore complies with the aims of SOCS policy CSM1 
and policies EP1, T1 and T2 of the SOLP. 

6.24 Refuse and recycling storage

Information has been submitted to demonstrate that sufficient areas for the storage of 
domestic refuse and recycling bins can be provided within each plot. Bins may need to 
be moved to the fronts of the plots for collection, but the distances are relatively short. A 
swept path analysis has also been submitted detailing how a refuse vehicle would enter 
and exit the site in a forward gear. The central courtyard area would provide sufficient 
space for a refuse vehicle to turn. Operatives would also not be required to travel long 
distances to collect the refuse. As such, I am satisfied the site layout allows for 
sufficient refuse storage and collection arrangements to be achieved. 

Page 32



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 2 December 2019

6.25 Drainage.

Detailed drawing information has been supplied with the application and has been 
considered by the Council’s Drainage Engineers. After carefully considered the 
supplied information the Council’s specialist officers have not objected. I am proposing 
a condition which requires that the development be carried out in accordance with 
these details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the council. 

6.26 CIL.

The development results in the creation of new build dwellings and is CIL liable. The 
amount payable in this instance is £162,526.91.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 Officers recommend that planning permission is granted because the reserved matters 

details and additional details submitted to discharge conditions of outline planning 
permission ref: P17/S3206/O would result in a development that would preserve the 
character and appearance of the street scene, landscape setting of the rural village and 
landscape character of the wider Chilterns AONB. Further to this, the development 
would not give rise to unacceptable harm to neighbouring residential amenities and 
sufficient mitigation can be secured to minimise impacts on protected species, the local 
environment and highways network during construction. The reserved matters therefore 
remain in accordance with the relevant development plan policies and subject to the 
recommended conditions it would be a sustainable form of development.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 That Planning Permission is granted subject to the following conditions;

1 :  Approved plans 
2 :  Commencement - Reserved Matters Approval
3 :  Schedule of Materials
4 :  Landscaping implementation
5 :  External Lighting 
6 :  No additional windows, doors or other openings 
7 :  Withdrawal of Permitted Development Rights
8 :  Wildlife Protection (mitigation as approved)
9 :  Tree protection (implementation as approved)
10 : Surface water drainage works (details as submitted)
11 : New vehicular access
12 : Vision splay protection
13 : Parking and manoeuvring areas retained
14: Construction Traffic Management (details as approved)
15 : No garage conversion in to accommodation
 

Author:         Paul Bowers
E-mail:          paul.bowers@southandvale.gov.uk
Contact No: 01235 422400

 

Page 33

mailto:paul.bowers@southandvale.gov.uk


South Oxfordshire District Council – «REPORT_NAME»

1 Page 34



LB

Play Area

Sports Court

52.9m

51.5m

White

Bryn Mawr

Manor

Gable

Keep

G
reen

Hill Rise

Mulberry

Fernbank

17

Clogwyn

View

Cross

G
ables

Down

C
rane

The Ways

A
shes

Summerfields

4

Bright Ravens

The Sycamores

5

1

Robins

Hill View

Mead

Chiltern

Little

Westwind

15
18

Outfield

Firs

Rosedale

Fairways

FERRY ROAD

WOODCOTE ROAD

w
A

LLIN
G

FO
RD

 RO
A

D

0 50

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM 
THIS DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY.  COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

project title

drawing title

first issued drawn scale

job/drawing no/revision

status

revision date description

The  Studio, 70 Church  Road, Wheatley, Oxford, OX33 1LZ
01865 873936 info@andersonorr.com www.andersonorr.com

1:1000 @ A3

LOCATION PLAN

27/11/2018 IG

LAND OFF WOODCOTE ROAD, SOUTH
STOKE, OXON

18085 - L01 -

PLANNING

Appendix 1

P
age 35

A
genda Item

 8



PLOT 1 PLOT 2 PLOT 3

PLOT 4 PLOT 5

LB

51.5m

Manor

Clogwyn

Cross
Ways

Summerfields
4

The Sycamores

5

1

Robins

Mead

approved new dwelling 
P17/S4042/FUL

(not yet constructed)

0 30

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM 
THIS DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY.  COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

project title

drawing title

first issued drawn scale

job/drawing no/revision

status

revision date description

The  Studio, 70 Church  Road, Wheatley, Oxford, OX33 1LZ
01865 873936 info@andersonorr.com www.andersonorr.com

1:500  @  A3

PROPOSED BLOCK PLAN

04/09/19 IG

LAND OFF WOODCOTE ROAD, SOUTH
STOKE, OXON

18085 - PP1013 -

PLANNING

Appendix 2

P
age 36



PLOT 1

PLOT 2
PLOT 3

PLOT 4

PLOT 5

WOODCOTE ROAD

Visitor 
Parking

Visitor 
Parking

carport 
plot 2 & 3 

parking & 
turning area 

parking & 
turning area garage 

garage 

garage 

carport 
parking & 

turning area 

turning area 

post & rail fence and 
hedge planting 

post & rail fence and 
hedge planting 

post & rail fence and 
hedge planting 

feather edge fence and 
hedge planting 

proposed 
landscaping

hedge planting 

post & rail fence and 
hedge planting 

proposed access 

bins

bins

bins

bins

bins

bikes

bikes

bikes

bikes

bikes

garden

garden

garden

garden garden

proposed feather 
edge fence

proposed feather 
edge fence

proposed feather 
edge fence & 

hedge planting 

post & rail 
fence and 

hedge 
planting parking 

plot 3 

hedge 
planting 

maintenance zone

existing fence retained

access for maintenance zone

feather 
edge 
fence  

LEGEND

Existing trees

Proposed trees

0 10

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM 
THIS DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY.  COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

project title

drawing title

first issued drawn scale

job/drawing no/revision

status

revision date description

The Studio, 70 Church  Road, Wheatley, Oxford,  OX33  1LZ
01865 873936 info@andersonorr.com www.andersonorr.com

1:200  @  A2

PROPOSED SITE PLAN

04/09/19 IG

LAND OFF WOODCOTE ROAD, SOUTH
STOKE, OXON

18085 - PP1012 - A

PLANNING

A 27/09/19 Landscape amendments

Page 37



Principal Entrance

carport

garage

utility

lounge

kitchen

dining

hall

cup'd

coats
wc

bed 3

master bed

en-suite

bath

st.

bed 2

landing

st.

0 5

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM 
THIS DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY.  COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

project title

drawing title

first issued drawn scale

job/drawing no/revision

status

revision date description

The Studio, 70 Church  Road, Wheatley, Oxford,  OX33  1LZ
01865 873936 info@andersonorr.com www.andersonorr.com

1:100  @  A2

PROPOSED FLOOR PLANS

26/11/18 HH

RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT,
WOODCOTE RD, OXFORD

18085 - PP1030 - A

PLANNING
GROUND FLOOR FIRST FLOOR

A 30/11/18 Minor amendments to design

Accommodation
Level Area (sq.m) Area (Sq.ft)

Ground 76.41 m² 822.42 ft²
First 73.23 m² 788.19 ft²

    Total 149.63 m² 1610.61 ft²

PLOT 1
DETACHED 3 BED RESIDENCE

P
age 38



0 5

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM 
THIS DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY.  COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

project title

drawing title

first issued drawn scale

job/drawing no/revision

status

revision date description

The Studio, 70 Church  Road, Wheatley, Oxford,  OX33  1LZ
01865 873936 info@andersonorr.com www.andersonorr.com

1:100  @  A2

PROPOSED ELEVATIONS

26/11/18 HH

RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT,
WOODCOTE RD, OXFORD

18085 - PE2010 - C

PLANNING

A 30/11/18 Minor amendments to design
B 18/12/18 Changes to the external materials
C 17/01/19 Bat and bird boxes added

EAST ELEVATION NORTH ELEVATION

SOUTH ELEVATIONWEST ELEVATION

PLOT 2 & 3
SEMI-DETACHED 2 BED RESIDENCE

Accommodation Plot 2
Level Area (sq.m) Area (Sq.ft)

Plot 2 (G) 42.29 m² 455.18 ft²
Plot 2 (F) 42.29 m² 455.18 ft²
    Total 84.58 m² 910.37 ft²

Accommodation Plot 3
Level Area (sq.m) Area (Sq.ft)

Plot 3 (G) 60.98 m² 656.41 ft²
Plot 3 (F) 60.98 m² 656.41 ft²
    Total 121.96 m² 1312.81 ft²

grey composite windows

clay tile roof

red brickwork

vertical hit-and-miss 
weatherboarding

1.8m high closeboard fence

grey composite windows

clay tile roof

red brickwork

vertical hit-and-miss 
weatherboarding

bat box

bat box

bird nesting box

P
age 39



Principal Entrance

Principal Entrance

wc hall

utility
cup'd

utility
cup'd

lounge

dining
kitchen

hall

wc

Plot 2

Plot 3

kitchen

lounge

dining

books

bike 
store

master bed

bed 2

e/s

landing

st.

wc

bed 3

bed 2

bath

landing

st.

master bed

st.

en-suite

2m clear height

0 5

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM 
THIS DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY.  COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

project title

drawing title

first issued drawn scale

job/drawing no/revision

status

revision date description

The Studio, 70 Church  Road, Wheatley, Oxford,  OX33  1LZ
01865 873936 info@andersonorr.com www.andersonorr.com

1:100  @  A2

PROPOSED FLOOR PLANS

26/11/18 HH

RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT,
WOODCOTE RD, OXFORD

18085 - PP2030 - B

PLANNING

GROUND FLOOR FIRST FLOOR
A 30/11/18 Minor amendments to design
B 18/12/18 Bike store added

Accommodation Plot 2
Level Area (sq.m) Area (Sq.ft)

Plot 2 (G) 42.29 m² 455.18 ft²
Plot 2 (F) 42.29 m² 455.18 ft²
    Total 84.58 m² 910.37 ft²

PLOT 2 & 3
SEMI-DETACHED 2 BED RESIDENCE

Accommodation Plot 3
Level Area (sq.m) Area (Sq.ft)

Plot 3 (G) 60.98 m² 656.41 ft²
Plot 3 (F) 60.98 m² 656.41 ft²
    Total 121.96 m² 1312.81 ft²

P
age 40



0 5

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM 
THIS DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY.  COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

project title

drawing title

first issued drawn scale

job/drawing no/revision

status

revision date description

The Studio, 70 Church  Road, Wheatley, Oxford,  OX33  1LZ
01865 873936 info@andersonorr.com www.andersonorr.com

1:100  @  A2

PROPOSED ELEVATIONS

04/09/19 IG

RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT,
WOODCOTE RD, OXFORD

18085 - PE4011 -

PLANNING

EAST ELEVATIONNORTH ELEVATION

SOUTH ELEVATION WEST ELEVATION

PLOT 4
DETACHED 4 BED RESIDENCE

Accommodation
Level Area (sq.m) Area (Sq.ft)

Ground 114.99 m² 1237.74 ft²
First 102.55 m² 1103.82 ft²

    Total 217.54 m² 2341.56 ft²

grey composite windows

clay tiled roof

red brickwork

grey composite windows

clay tiled roof

red brickwork

vertical hit-and-miss 
weatherboarding

bird nesting box

bat box

P
age 41



garage

utility

kitchen

study

lounge

hall

family

dining

cloak

c'd

bed 4
bed 2

bed 3

master bed

dress

e/s

landing

e/s
bath

lines indicating 2m clear height

lines indicating 2m clear height

a/c

0 5

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM 
THIS DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY.  COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

project title

drawing title

first issued drawn scale

job/drawing no/revision

status

revision date description

The Studio, 70 Church  Road, Wheatley, Oxford,  OX33  1LZ
01865 873936 info@andersonorr.com www.andersonorr.com

1:100  @  A2

PROPOSED FLOOR PLANS

05/09/19 IG

RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT,
WOODCOTE RD, OXFORD

18085 - PP4031 -

PLANNING
GROUND FLOOR FIRST FLOOR

Accommodation
Level Area (sq.m) Area (Sq.ft)

Ground 114.99 m² 1237.74 ft²
First 102.55 m² 1103.82 ft²

    Total 217.54 m² 2341.56 ft²

PLOT 4
DETACHED 4 BED RESIDENCE

P
age 42



0 5

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM 
THIS DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY.  COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

project title

drawing title

first issued drawn scale

job/drawing no/revision

status

revision date description

The Studio, 70 Church  Road, Wheatley, Oxford,  OX33  1LZ
01865 873936 info@andersonorr.com www.andersonorr.com

1:100  @  A2

PROPOSED ELEVATIONS

04/09/19 IG

RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT,
WOODCOTE RD, OXFORD

18085 - PE5011 -

PLANNING

EAST ELEVATION NORTH ELEVATION

SOUTH ELEVATIONWEST ELEVATION

Accommodation
Level Area (sq.m) Area (Sq.ft)

Ground 142.68 m² 1535.74 ft²
First 119.22 m² 1283.25 ft²

    Total 261.89 m² 2819.00 ft²

PLOT 5
DETACHED 5 BED RESIDENCE

natural slate roof

red brickwork

vertical hit-and-miss 
weatherboarding

grey composite windows

natural slate roof

red brickwork

vertical hit-and-miss 
weatherboarding

glass balustrade

glass 
balustrade

bird nesting box

bat box

P
age 43



0 5

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM 
THIS DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY.  COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

project title

drawing title

first issued drawn scale

job/drawing no/revision

status

revision date description

The Studio, 70 Church  Road, Wheatley, Oxford,  OX33  1LZ
01865 873936 info@andersonorr.com www.andersonorr.com

1:100  @  A2

PROPOSED ELEVATIONS

26/11/18 HH

RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT,
WOODCOTE RD, OXFORD

18085 - PE1010 - C

PLANNING

A 30/11/18 Minor amendments to design
B 18/12/18 Changes to the external materials
C 17/10/19 Bat & Bird Boxes added

EAST ELEVATION NORTH ELEVATION

SOUTH ELEVATIONWEST ELEVATION

PLOT 1
DETACHED 3 BED RESIDENCE

Accommodation
Level Area (sq.m) Area (Sq.ft)

Ground 76.41 m² 822.42 ft²
First 73.23 m² 788.19 ft²

    Total 149.63 m² 1610.61 ft²

grey composite windows

natural slate roof

red brickwork

vertical hit-and-miss 
weatherboarding

grey composite windows

natural slate roof

red brickwork

vertical hit-and-miss 
weatherboarding

bat box

bird nesting box

P
age 44



study play

wc

garage

utility

kitchen

hall

cup'd

dining

sittingliving

landing

bed 5

master bede/s
bed 4bed 3

bed 2
e/s dressing

bath

a.c.

lines indicating 2m clear height

lines indicating 2m clear height

0 5

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM 
THIS DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY.  COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

project title

drawing title

first issued drawn scale

job/drawing no/revision

status

revision date description

The Studio, 70 Church  Road, Wheatley, Oxford,  OX33  1LZ
01865 873936 info@andersonorr.com www.andersonorr.com

1:100  @  A2

PROPOSED FLOOR PLANS

04/09/19 IG

RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT,
WOODCOTE RD, OXFORD

18085 - PP5031 - A

PLANNING
GROUND FLOOR FIRST FLOOR

Accommodation
Level Area (sq.m) Area (Sq.ft)

Ground 142.68 m² 1535.74 ft²
First 119.22 m² 1283.25 ft²

    Total 261.89 m² 2819.00 ft²

PLOT 5
DETACHED 5 BED RESIDENCE

A 17/09/19 Minor amendments to garage

P
age 45



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

APPLICATION NO. P18/S4261/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 8.1.2019
PARISH CLIFTON HAMPDEN
WARD MEMBER(S) Sam Casey-Rerhaye
APPLICANT Mr N Mullard and Mrs F Brann
SITE The Chapel, Burcot House Abingdon Road Burcot, 

OX14 3DJ
PROPOSAL Proposed conversion of the de-consecrated chapel 

to create a two bedroom dwelling house with 
associated parking and amenity space provision.

OFFICER David Millinship

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 The application has been referred to planning committee due to conflict between the 

Officer’s recommendation and the views of the parish council (objections due to the 
inadequate access and increase in traffic in the area).

1.2 The application site comprises a former chapel set within the wider grounds of a 
property known as Burcot House within the rural village of Burcot. The site is 
accessed by a private road extending to the south of the A415 that also provides 
shared access to a number of predominantly domestic properties. The wider area 
comprises a suburban housing development with buildings ranging from the late C18 
to late C20 origins. There is little uniformity between the scale and design of individual 
buildings or plot layouts in the area. The majority of buildings and plots are large, set 
out in irregular layouts with some pockets of tree planting that have remained 
undeveloped. The site and village are entirely washed over by the Oxford Green Belt. 

1.3 Burcot House itself is now divided into several separate dwellings. The chapel is 
located marginally to the north of 2-3 Burcot House set within its own apparent 
curtilage. The northern fringe of the site and much of the western area are populated 
by a number of mature trees of mixed species (several Yew). A lawn area sits 
between the building and northern tree-lined boundary with a shared drive and 
parking areas (serving the units at Burcot House) running along the southern 
boundary. The main private road running through the estate skirts the northern and 
eastern site boundaries. It is raised in height from the chapel level by around 0.5 
metres. 

1.4 The chapel is thought to have once been located in the village of Dorchester-on-
Thames. It was rebuilt at the current site in the early C20 linked to the occupation of 
Burcot House at a time when the main house was occupied by Dorchester 
Theological College for Missionary Students. It was de-consecrated in the 1950s, 
following the private purchase of Burcot House and its extensive grounds by the 
Mullard family. Much of the surrounding land at the time was open land or woodland 
but, was subsequently developed. The district council’s records note several 
approvals in the 1950s for development of ‘high class private dwellinghouses’ across 
the wider estate.   
 

1.5 Subsequent to being de-consecrated, The Chapel was used for many years for office 
purposes but was also used, at various times, as a collection/bagging point for Oxfam, 
as art exhibition space, as a prop store in connection with a theatre company with its 

Page 47

Agenda Item 9

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S4261/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

most recent and on-going use being for general domestic storage purposes. The 
chapel building has a simple rectangular plan form and is constructed in stone with 
brick dressings under a plain clay tile roof with a conical turret feature at its western 
end. The building has some local significance and has maintained a historic character 
and appearance, despite its many uses since the mid C20. As such, it is considered to 
be a non-designated heritage asset. 

1.6 Two other planning applications for residential development on sites adjacent to the 
chapel are also under consideration by the local planning authority. Application ref: 
P19/S0058/FUL has been submitted for the construction of a detached five- bedroom 
dwelling on land to the north of the chapel and planning application P19/S0025/FUL 
has been submitted for the conversion of a former storage building (originally a tennis 
court) into two four-bedroom dwellings on a site to the south-east of the chapel. The 
applications are not functionally linked (in that if all three consents were issued 
individual developments could take place at different times) but, the applicants are the 
same and several documents have been submitted to assess cumulative impacts of 
the three proposals. 

1.5 A plan identifying the site is attached as Appendix 1.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 This application proposes the conversion of the existing building into a detached two-

bedroom house, with associated parking and amenity space provision. The new 
dwelling would share the driveway serving Burcot House - which joins onto the private 
road some 60 metres to the north-west but, with a gated access onto it adjacent to the 
south-eastern edge of the chapel. Two off-road parking spaces would be provided.   
 

2.2 The proposed conversion involves both internal and external works. Internally, it is 
proposed to create an entrance hall, utility room and WC in the existing lobby area with 
an open-plan kitchen, dining and living room in the remainder of the ground floor area. 
A new mezzanine level of accommodation above would provide two bedrooms and a 
bathroom. Externally, it is proposed to retain all of the existing window openings save 
for the removal of an existing window on the eastern side of the lobby area, which 
would be replaced with a new external doorway serving the proposed utility room. 
Additionally, a new set of glazed double doors and a new window are proposed to be 
inserted on the northern elevation to provide access to the garden area from the new 
living areas.  

2.2 Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application are attached at Appendix 
2. Full copies of the plans and consultation responses are available for inspection on 
the Council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Clifton Hampden Parish Council – Objection;

The access is a single carriageway track, and is not sufficient for the proposed usage.

OCC Archaeological Services - No objection; 
The proposals outlined would not appear to have an invasive impact upon any known 
archaeological sites or features. As such there are no archaeological constraints to this 
scheme.

Countryside Officer  - No objection;
The building to be converted has been subject to surveys and found to support a small 
number of relatively common bat species in the external roof structure. 

Page 48

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

As the conversion works would not directly impact the roof, no direct impacts are 
predicted and suitable working methods and timings to ensure that development does 
not disturb roosting bats, which could require a licence, are proposed. Subject to the 
addition of a condition to ensure compliance with the proposed working methods, there 
are no objections to the proposal. 

Drainage Engineer - No objection;
Advice has been given with regards to the technical requirements that would need to be 
met. No objection is made subject to the use of conditions to secure full drainage 
system details. 

Forestry Officer - No objection;
No objections subject to a tree protection condition being attached, to ensure the 
satisfactory protection of retained trees.

OCC Highways Liaison Officer – No objection;
Subject to conditions to secure off-road parking and turning areas. 

SGN Plant Protection Team - No objection; 
Confirm no plant is located within application site over than a low-pressure gas main 
under the private road. Advice is given about safe working around these installations. 

Neighbour responses:
Three letters of objection were received from neighbouring occupiers. Objections to the 
scheme have been summarised as follows:

- The existing private drive would not be able to support the additional traffic that 
would be generated by the three proposed developments; 

- Increased chance of obstructions and conflicts between vehicles at the A415 
junctions with the private road (Horseshoe Lane); 

- Surface water flooding ( caused by run-off from land to the north of the A415) 
has occurred and the development should not increase this flood risk; 

- Concern has been raised over the removal of mature trees in advance of the 
submissions;

- Trees that remain should be surveyed or protected; 
- Loss of privacy to occupiers of The Coach House, the neighbouring dwelling to 

the east;
- Increased noise over and above the existing domestic/storage use of the 

building.

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P19/S0058/FUL – Awaiting decision (see current committee agenda) 

Proposed erection of a detached five-bedroom dwelling and a detached double garage.  

P19/S0025/FUL – Awaiting decision (see current committee agenda) 
Proposed conversion of the existing B8 storage building to create 2 x four-bedroom 
dwellings with associated parking and amenity space provision (as amended by 
additional Flood Risk Information received on 24-04-2019 and revised plan received on 
21-06-2019). (Revised Flood Risk Assessment received 4 July 2019).  

P54/M0663 - Approved (08/12/1954)
Site and layout for erection of high class private dwelling houses.

Page 49

http://sav-intranet.capitacouncilspartnership.co.uk/jsp/packages/planning/PA_Summary.jsp?REF=P19/S0058/FUL
http://sav-intranet.capitacouncilspartnership.co.uk/jsp/packages/planning/PA_Summary.jsp?REF=P19/S0025/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P54/M0663


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires applications 

for planning permission be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 provides that the local planning authority shall have regard to the 
provisions of the Development Plan, so far as material to the application, and to any other 
material considerations. The council’s adopted development plan comprises the South 
Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) and the saved policies of the South Oxfordshire Local 
Plan (SOLP). The relevant polices and supporting guidance are listed below.

5.2 Development Plan:

South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) policies:
 CS1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development;
 CSS1 – The Overall Strategy;
 CSR1 – Housing in Villages;
 CSEN1 – Landscape; 
 CSEN2 – Green Belt;
 CSEN3 – Historic Environment;
 CSQ3 – Design;
 CSB1 – Conservation and improvement of biodiversity.

South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) policies:
 H4 – Housing in villages;
 H11 – Subdivision of dwellings; 
 C6 – Biodiversity;
 C8 – Protected species;
 C9 – Landscape features;
 D1 – Good design and local distinctiveness;
 D2 – Vehicle and bicycle parking;
 D3 – Outdoor amenity space;
 D4 – Neighbouring amenities;
 E8 – Conversion of rural buildings; 
 G2 – Protecting the district from adverse development; 
 GB4 – Green belt (visual amenity); 
 T1 – Safe access;
 T2 – Parking and turning. 

5.3 Neighbourhood Plan:
 The Parish of Clifton Hampden are currently preparing a neighbourhood plan. 

The neighbourhood area was formally designated in September 2014. The 
parish council has started the process of gathering evidence and engaging with 
the local community. As the plan remains at an early pre-draft stage is 
possesses only very limited weight in the assessment of this application. 

5.4 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents:
 South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016).

5.5 National Planning Policy:
 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF);
 National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG).

5.6 Third Party Guidance:
 Historic England – Conservation Principles;

Page 50



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

 Historic England – GPA2: Managing Significance in Decision-Taking in the 
Historic Environment; 

 Historic England – GPA3: The Setting of Heritage Assets (2nd Edition).

5.7 Emerging local plan
Paragraph 48 of the NPPF allows for weight to be given to relevant policies in emerging 
plans, unless other material considerations indicate otherwise, and only subject to the 
stage of preparation of the plan, the extent of unresolved objections and the degree of 
consistency of the relevant emerging policies with the NPPF. 

Emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2034.
The council has submitted the Local Plan 2034 to the Planning Inspector for an 
independent examination following public consultation. 
  
On 10 October 2019 the Secretary of State for Housing Communities and Local 
Government issued a Holding Direction on the Council in relation to the emerging Local 
Plan 2034. The holding direction has been made under the provisions of Section 21A of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. This means that the emerging plan 
has 'no effect whilst the direction is in force', this is set out in section 21A(2) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. The emerging Local Plan has no weight 
at this stage.

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The application site is located within a rural village that is washed over by the Oxford 

Green Belt. The site is also includes a non-designated heritage asset and shares 
intervening boundaries with domestic properties. The proposal would mainly comprise 
the conversion of the building to create a new detached dwelling. Therefore, the main 
issues to consider are as follows:

 The principle of the development having regards to the housing delivery 
and Green Belt policies of the development plan;

 The heritage impacts of the development:
 Impact on neighbouring properties;
 Highways impacts;
 Biodiversity;
 Drainage and flood risk. 

6.2
Principle of development – new housing
Policy CSS1 of the SOCS details the spatial strategy for new development across the 
district during the plan period. It sets out a settlement hierarchy that seeks to direct 
major new development to the growth point of Didcot, with smaller developments 
supported in the main towns and various sizes of village across the district, specifically:

(iv) supporting other villages in the rest of the district by allowing for 
limited amounts of housing and employment and by the provision and 
retention of services; and
(v) outside the towns and villages, and other major developed sites, 
any change will need to relate to very specific needs such as those of 
the agricultural industry or enhancement of the environment.…

So, the general principle of new residential development is supported if the site is within 
the built-up limits (BuL) of a village. The site is considered to be within the built-up limits 
of Burcot which is defined as a ‘smaller village’ within the SOCS so the broad principle 
of new housing development is supported by the overall development strategy. 

Page 51



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

6.3 SOCS policy CSR1 states that redevelopment proposals (to provide new housing) in all 
categories of settlement may be acceptable but, will be considered on a case by case 
basis through the development management process in line with other policies in the 
Development Plan. SOLP policy H4 states that proposal for new housing within the 
built-up areas of villages will be permitted providing:

i. an important open space of public, environmental or ecological value is not lost, 
nor an important public view spoilt;

ii. the design, height, scale and materials of the proposed development are in 
keeping with its surroundings;

iii. the character of the area is not adversely affected;
iv. there are no overriding amenity, environmental or highway objections; and
v. if the proposal constitutes backland development, it would not create problems 

of privacy and access and would not extend the built limits of the settlement.

I do not consider the proposal would conflict with points i or v and generally I consider it 
would be possible for the development to comply with the other criteria (although this 
will be assessed in greater detail below). I also have regard to the requirements of 
SOLP policies E8 and H11 that respectively relate to the conversion of rural buildings 
and subdivision of existing dwellings. Whilst the lawful use of the chapel is unclear, it is 
clearly not in an agricultural or rural business use so E8 does not strictly apply in terms 
of the principle. The applicant states that the building has most recently been used as 
domestic storage, so it potentially has an ancillary use to the main dwellings at Burcot 
House. However, based on my recent site visit I do not consider the building to be in an 
ancillary use. It sits within its own curtilage and is of a much larger scale than an 
ancillary outbuilding is reasonably expected to be. The former use also suggests a B1 
or B8 use may have been established at some point. Therefore, I do not consider the 
proposal conflicts with the principle aims of these policies, but in assessing the wider 
impacts of the proposal the criteria of E8 and H11 are likely to be relevant to my 
planning judgement. As such, I am satisfied that the general principle of the change of 
use into a dwelling in this location is supported by SOCS CSR1 and SOLP policy H4

6.4
Principle of development – Green Belt
The site (and wider village) is within the Oxford Green Belt, where new development is 
strictly controlled. Policy CSEN2 defers to the NPPF for most types of development. 
NPPF Paragraphs 145 and 146 define various types of development that are 
considered to be not inappropriate. In this case, the proposal has potential to be 
included within para. 145(f) as a form of partial or complete redevelopment of 
previously developed land (PDL) or para. 146(d) as the re-use of buildings provided 
that the buildings are of permanent and substantial construction. In any case, the 
proposal does not involve any significant extensions to the existing building and would 
result in the creation of a new dwelling within a settlement (so would not be a form of 
urban encroachment in my view). As such, I accept the proposal is not inappropriate 
development within the Green Belt and is supported in general principle by the housing 
delivery and Green Belt policies of the development plan. 

6.5
Heritage impacts
The building in question is considered to be a non-designated heritage asset. It would 
clearly be affected by the proposal, mainly due to the internal works that would be 
required to convert the building into a dwelling. The development plan generally seeks 
to avoid harm to heritage assets. The NPPF (presenting the most up-to-date policy) 
states that:

The effect of an application on the significance of a non-designated heritage 
asset should be taken into account in determining the application. In weighing

Page 52



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

applications that directly or indirectly affect non-designated heritage assets, a 
balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm or 
loss and the significance of the heritage asset.

6.6 Historic England’s guidance within GPA2: Managing Significance in Decision-Taking in 
the Historic Environment defines the significance of a heritage asset as being derived 
from the cumulative considerations of the historic interest, architectural character and 
contribution of its setting. There is little evidence relating to the history of the chapel 
other than the applicant’s submission. It is thought that certain features of the building 
were at one time part of a chapel located in nearby Dorchester-on-Thames. It was 
constructed at the current site in the late 1920s/early 1930s, though it possesses many 
features of the earlier building. 
 

6.7 The district council’s Conservation Officer has informally reviewed the scheme and 
agrees the building possesses significance due to its local historic interest and 
architectural character. The broad view was taken that the conversion works would not 
result in a substantial level of intervention with the original fabric. The exception would 
be the new doorway accessing the garden area and new window to be installed into the 
north facing elevation. This would involve removal of some of the building’s fabric but, 
would be in the least visible location and would help to secure the optimum viable use 
of the building. The use of the non-designated heritage asset as a dwelling would be 
appropriate and would secure preservation of the building for future generations. I 
consider securing a viable future use for the building outweighs the minor harm that 
would be caused by the new external door opening. 

6.8 In order to ensure the architectural character of the building is protected, planning 
conditions can be used to require the development and any repairs to the building to be 
undertaken in materials to match those of the existing building. Full details of any 
replacement or new doors and windows can also be secured. As the building is not 
listed it would benefit from permitted development (PD) rights once it was occupied as a 
dwelling. The protection of the significance of the building and prevention of extensions 
that could result in disproportionate additions to the building within the Green Belt 
present exceptional circumstances to support the removal of householder PD rights. 
Both matters are given significant weight by the NPPF so I consider, in this case, PD 
rights should be removed by a restrictive condition. 

6.9 Taking into account the above, I am satisfied there would be no conflict with the aims of 
SOCS policy CSEN3 or the provisions of Section 16 of the NPPF and subject to the 
recommended conditions the significance of the building would be preserved. 

6.10
Impact on neighbours
There is potential for the neighbouring dwellings at The Coach House (to the east) and 
2-3 Burcot House to the south to experience some impact from the permanent 
occupation of the chapel as a dwelling. The current use of the building appears mostly 
akin to a domestic outbuilding (storage and some ancillary leisure use). As such, it is 
reasonable to expect some increase in noise from comings and goings and potentially 
impact on neighbouring privacy. 

6.11 Some third-party concern has been raised over the first-floor east-facing window. This 
window would face towards the neighbouring dwelling at The Coach House as several 
windows serving habitable rooms are located in the west facing elevation of that 
neighbouring dwelling. The east facing window would serve the open plan living area, 
which would be a room with a double ceiling height. The first-floor mezzanine would not 
cover the living area within the western area of the so direct overlooking from the first-
floor window would not be caused. There would also be a separation distance of 

Page 53



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

approximately 17 metres (rear-to-side) with vegetative screening from existing tall trees 
and an established hedgerow. A planning condition can be used to prevent extension of 
the first-floor mezzanine. Subject to the condition, I am satisfied privacy to the 
occupiers of The Coach House would not be harmed. 

6.12 Some overlooking could be created towards 2 and 3 Burcot House. This would be in a 
side-to-front relationship over a separation distance of approximately 16 metres, 
window-to-window. The intervening land is comprised of the shared drive and parking 
areas serving 2 and 3 Burcot House. These are semi-private areas of the site so a 
degree of mutual overlooking from them is reasonably expected and would not be 
harmful.  The most private areas of both 2 and 3 Burcot House and the chapel would 
not be overlooked and I consider no harm would be caused to neighbouring amenities 
or the amenities of future occupiers of the chapel. 

6.13 On balance, I am satisfied that subject to the recommended conditions the 
development would not conflict with the aims of SOCS policy CSQ3 or SOLP policies 
D1, D4, E8, G2, H4 or H11. 

6.14
Highways impacts
SOLP policies E8, H4, H11 all seek to prevent development that would result in 
adverse impacts to the safety and operation of the public highway. SOLP policies D2, 
T1 and T2 together seek to ensure that all new development has safe access and 
sufficient off-road parking and turning areas. As stated above, the site is accessed from 
the public highway (A415) by stretch of private road over a distance of approximately 
140 metres to the shared driveway of Burcot House. Within the shared driveway of 
Burcot House there are already large areas of hard-surfacing that would provide 
sufficient space for parking and turning to allow vehicles to enter and exit the site in a 
forward gear (from the private road). Two off-road parking spaces, with a large shared 
turning area, would be given over to use by the chapel. As such, I am satisfied the 
provisions of SOLP policies D2 and T2 would be met. The County Council Highways 
Liaison Officer has assessed the expected impacts of the development on the existing 
access points with the public highway and has offered no objection. 

6.15 However, the existing private road (referred to locally as the ‘Horseshoe Lane’) is not 
well-surfaced, has no pedestrian footway and lacks sufficient width to allow two 
vehicles to pass along much of its length. The Horseshoe Lane has two access points 
with the A415. Both are considered to possess good visibility and are set back from the 
carriageway by approximately one car length. Both accesses are bell-mouth designed 
wide enough to allow a car to enter and exit at the same time. However, at both the 
eastern and western access points the private road narrows to a single width in close 
proximity to the access so there would be some potential for conflict between vehicles 
(travelling in opposing directions) at these points. 

6.16 The applicant has submitted a transport assessment to attempt to demonstrate that the 
combined impacts of the two residential developments at the Tennis Court and Plot 3 
sites would not be harmful in comparison to the fall-back position. The vehicle 
movements of the lawful fall-back use(s) of the sites are assessed against the expected 
traffic movements associated with the residential developments and it has been 
concluded the fall-back use has a greater potential to be harmful. The chapel 
conversion has not been included within the transport assessment but, the applicant 
has concluded that its conversion would not be harmful in addition to the greater 
impacts of the other developments. 

6.17 I agree with the applicant’s assessment that the chapel conversion has the least 
potential to generate significant vehicle movements once converted. The fall-back use 

Page 54



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

should be considered but, it is difficult to conclusively determine from the district 
council’s records. In all probabilities, it has been used for several years in an informal 
domestic use. At my recent site visit the building appeared to be used mainly for 
domestic storage but, it was explained that it has also been used informally for art 
exhibitions, for the storage of theatre props and as an office. Therefore, I accept there 
may be some form of domestic use established (most likely linked to the occupiers of 
Burcot House) but, I do not consider the use of the chapel is as an ancillary outbuilding. 
Therefore, it has the potential to generate traffic movements if it were used for a more 
commercial purpose (it appears likely a commercial B8 or B1 use could take place 
without planning permission). 

6.18 The TRICS data provided by the applicant suggests a 2-3 bedroom dwelling can 
generate up to 8 movements per day (considered as a maximum). Individually, I do not 
consider this level of traffic increase would have the potential to be harmful and, given 
that I accept a fall-back use exists, the residential conversion of the chapel would 
prevent future increase in traffic linked to a commercial use. The County Council 
Highways Liaison Officer has reviewed the Transport Statement and has offered no 
objection in terms of the impact of the development on users of the public highway, 
over and above the fall-back position. It was informally agreed that the maximum 
vehicle movements (assumed to be generated by the fall-back uses) are unlikely to be 
reached given the location and condition of the private road. However, commercial 
storage and business uses are not uncommon in rural village locations, so some level 
of commercial vehicle use is accepted. The proposed residential conversions would 
prevent more intensive commercial uses being established which is considered to be to 
the merit of the proposals in terms of highway impacts.  

6.19 I note the strong objections from several neighbouring occupiers that share the 
Horseshoe Lane for access (particularly those of the western side). In terms of this 
proposal, I do not consider there is sufficient impact to justify mitigation in the form of 
upgrades to the Horseshoe Lane. In any case, the Horseshoe Lane is also a private 
road and does not appear to have been well maintained by landowners over the years. 
Whilst I acknowledge that improvements to the surface of the lane and increased 
passing place opportunities are desirable, I consider these are works that could take 
place at any time and would be for the private benefits of the residents living along the 
Horseshoe Lane, rather than public benefits of users of the highway. It is also possible 
that individual (or collective) landowners of the lane could take civil action against the 
developer to require future upgrades to the private road. I do not conclude that 
upgrades to the lane are required to mitigate the impacts of the development. 

6.20 In my view, there is an argument that mitigation can be sought to minimise potential 
damage to the lane during the construction period of the development. If damage is 
caused it appears reasonable to require the private road is reinstated to its condition 
prior to the construction works taking place. However, construction linked to the chapel 
conversion would not be of a large enough scale to warrant further control through 
planning conditions (the other associated developments would be in my view). 

6.21 On balance, I am satisfied the chapel conversion would not cause harm to the safety 
and operation of the public highway in the locality and it therefore complies with the 
aims of SOLP policies D1, D2, E8, H4, H11, T1 and T2.

6.22
Biodiversity impacts
The building has been in place for almost 100 years and is located in proximity to 
mature trees, hedgerows and approximately 110 metres to the north of the River 
Thames. As such, the conditions in the area suggest protected species may be present. 
The applicant has undertaken an ecological appraisal and the building has been found 

Page 55



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

to support a small number of relatively common bat species in the external roof 
structure. The conversion works would not directly impact the roof and no direct 
impacts on the bats using the building are predicted. The ecological appraisal 
recommends suitable working methods and timings to ensure the development does 
not disturb roosting bats, which could require a licence. The district’s Countryside 
Officer has offered no objection to the scheme subject to the imposition of a condition 
to secure compliance with the recommendations of the ecological appraisal. Subject to 
this condition the development would not conflict with the aims of SOCS policy CSB1 or 
SOLP policies C6 and C8. 

6.23
Drainage and flood risk
The chapel is located in Flood Zone 1 and not within an area at risk of surface water 
flooding. (as defined by the Environment Agency flood maps). Flood Zones 2 and 3 are 
located approximately 45 metres to the south. As the chapel is not within Flood Zone 1 
the NPPF advises that no Flood Risk Assessment is required. However, third party 
comments have raised concerns over surface water flooding that has occurred in the 
wider area (the Horseshoe Lane, part of the Plot 3 site and properties at Creek End and 
Burr Woods to the north). It has been stated that floodwater has run-off from farmland 
to the north and has failed to be captured by highway drainage serving the A415. 
Photos were submitted showing part of the Plot 3 site and Horseshoe Lane flooded by 
surface water. 

6.24 I acknowledge that surface water flooding has occurred in the vicinity of the site but, 
this does not appear to be a commonly occurring issue and is not reflected in the EA’s 
surface water flood maps. The site is further to the south than the area previously 
mentioned as being susceptible to flooding and it is an existing building with at least, 
some form of drainage connection. It is also unreasonable to expect a development of 
the proposed scale and location to be able to increase flood risk. The district council’s 
Drainage Engineer has acknowledged the groundwater flood risk in the area but has 
offered no objection to the scheme. Conditions to secure full foul and surface water 
drainage details are requested (along with the use of permeable hard-surfacing 
materials that can be controlled by a separate condition). I consider these to be 
reasonable details to secure as there may be a need to upgrade the existing drainage 
systems to meet the NPPF para. 163 requirements for the use of sustainable drainage 
and flood resilience measures. 

6.25
Other matters
The council’s CIL charging schedule applies to relevant proposals from 1 April 2016. 
CIL is a planning charge that local authorities can implement to help deliver 
infrastructure and to support the development of their area, and is primarily calculated 
on the increase in footprint created as a result of the development. In this case CIL 
would be liable as the proposal is for the change of use to a dwelling. The internal 
mezzanine would also increase floor space over that of the existing building. 

6.26 NPPF Paragraph 38 details the need for Local planning authorities to approach 
planning decisions in a positive and creative way, using the full range of planning tools 
available and working proactively with applicants to secure developments that will 
improve the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area. Subject to 
some minor revisions and clarifications the proposal is now considered to be in 
accordance with the development plan and is a sustainable form of development.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 It is recommended that members grant planning permission as the proposed 

development would help to secure the optimum viable use of a non-designated heritage 
asset through the conversion of an existing building within the built-up limits of a 

Page 56



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

‘smaller village’ where some small-scale provision of new housing is supported through 
the spatial development strategy of the development plan. The recommended 
conditions would safeguard future harm to neighbouring residential amenities, highway 
safety and the biodiversity value of the site. The proposed development therefore 
complies with the development plan and is a sustainable development. 

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 Planning permission is granted subject to the following conditions;

1. Three-year time limit; 
2. Approved plans;
3. Submission of new window and door details (prior to installation);

Prior to the installation of any of the new doors and windows hereby 
approved full details (to include as a minimum, scale drawings illustrating 
the window/door designs, materials details, details of stone surrounds 
and sill/lintel details), shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. Thereafter the new windows and doors shall only 
be installed in accordance with the approved details. 
Reason: To ensure the significance of the non-designated heritage asset 
is preserved and in the interests of the character and appearance of the 
site in accordance with the aims of policies CSEN3 and CSQ3 of the South 
Oxfordshire Core Strategy, policies D1 and G2 of the South Oxfordshire 
Local Plan and paragraph 197 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

4. Provision of porous hard-surfaced off-road parking and turning areas 
(prior to occupation);
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, the off-
road parking and turning areas shall be constructed in full and made 
available for use in accordance with site layout drawing no.S1/P/07 and in 
accordance with a written materials specification that shall first be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
written details shall include (as a minimum) a photographic example of 
each material, the material name, manufacturer/supplier name and details 
of the permeability/porousness of the material (or details of proposed 
drainage measures). Thereafter the development shall be completed in 
accordance with the approved details and the parking and turning areas 
shall be retained unobstructed except for the parking of vehicles 
associated with the development at all times. 

Reason: In the interests of visual amenities, flood risk and to ensure the 
provision of sufficient off-road car parking areas in accordance with 
policies CSQ3 and CSEN3 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 
and policies D1, D2, T1 and T2 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

5. Connection to foul and surface water drainage details (prior to 
occupation); 
The dwelling hereby approved shall not be occupied or brought into use 
until it has been connected to drainage systems for both foul and surface 
water disposal, the details of which shall first be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The details submitted 
shall demonstrate how the proposed drainage systems will be compliant 
with sustainable drainage (SuDS) principles and how surface water flood 
risk in the locality shall be managed within the development site. 

Page 57



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

Reason: To prevent pollution and to ensure adequate drainage 
infrastructure is provided in accordance with Policies EP1 and EP6 of the 
South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

6. Ecological mitigation (compliance with recommendations of eco 
appraisal); 

7. Removal of house holder permitted development rights;
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) (or 
any Order revoking or re-enacting that Order), no development as 
described in Schedule 2, Part 1, Classes A to F of the Order shall be 
undertaken without the prior written permission of the Local Planning 
Authority. 

Reason: To ensure the significance of the non-designated heritage asset 
is preserved and in the interests of the character and appearance of the 
site in accordance with the aims of policies CSEN3 and CSQ3 of the South 
Oxfordshire Core Strategy, policies D1, D4 and G2 of the South 
Oxfordshire Local Plan and paragraph 197 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

Author:         David Millinship
Contact No:  01235 422600
Email:            planning@southoxon.gov.uk

 

Page 58



THE CHAPEL

0 0 o 1% Is 30 33 *0 AS SO
In iIIIJlILJ

OS MasterMap 1250/2500/10000 scale
Friday, July 20. 2018, ID. BW1-00728703
www blackwellmapping.co.uk

11250 scale print at A4, Centre. 455891 E, 196029 N

©Crown Copyright Ordnance Survey Licence no. 100041041

(Jr
0,

i61m

07
cc Lfl

cc

THE CHAPEL
Bu tCOt

Abingdon
Oxfordshire
0X14 3DJ BLACKWE1I’S

www.btackwellmapping.couk

TEL: 01865333677
maps.oxtord@blackwell Co uk

Appendix 1

Page 59

Agenda Item 9



Appendix 2

P
age 60

AGould
Polyline



P
age 61



P
age 62



P
age 63



P
age 64



P
age 65



P
age 66



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 2 December 2019

APPLICATION NO. P19/S0025/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 18.12.2018
PARISH CLIFTON HAMPDEN
WARD MEMBER(S) Sam Casey-Rerhaye
APPLICANT Mr N Mullard and Mrs F Brann
SITE The Tennis Court, land to the east of Burcot House 

Abingdon Road Burcot, OX14 3DJ
PROPOSAL Proposed conversion of the existing B8 storage 

building to create 2 x four bedroom dwellings with 
associated parking and amenity space provision (as 
amended by additional Flood Risk Information 
received on 24-04-2019 and revised plan received 
on 21-06-2019).  (Revised Flood Risk Assessment 
received 4 July 2019).

OFFICER David Millinship

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 The application has been referred to planning committee due to conflict between the 

Officer’s recommendation and the views of the parish council (objections due to the 
inadequate access and increase in traffic in the area).

1.2 The application site comprises a former tennis court set within the wider grounds of a 
property known as Burcot House within the rural village of Burcot. The site is 
accessed by a private road extending to the south of the A415 that also provides 
shared access to a number of predominantly domestic properties. The wider area 
comprises a suburban housing development with buildings ranging from the late C18 
to late C20 origins. There is little uniformity between the scale and design of individual 
buildings or plot layouts in the area. The majority of buildings and plots are large, set 
out in irregular layouts with some pockets of tree planting that have remained 
undeveloped. Of particular note is a large area of woodland located to the east of the 
tennis court that covers an area of approximately 1.8ha and is now under a Tree 
Preservation Order (TPO). The site and village are entirely washed over by the Oxford 
Green Belt. 

1.3 Burcot House itself is now divided into several separate dwellings and also has a 
former chapel building set within its wider grounds (also subject to a proposed 
residential conversion under application ref: P18/S4261/FUL). The tennis court 
building is located marginally to the east of 2-3 Burcot House set outside of the main 
group of residential buildings. A neighbouring dwelling The Coach House at is located 
approximately 12.5 metre to the north-west of the building. The main private road 
running through the estate skirts the northern boundary of the tennis court providing 
access to an informal parking area set to the east of the building. For a number of 
years, the building has been used for storage purposes (mainly theatre sets). In early 
2017 a certificate of lawful development was issued for the existing use of the building 
as a B8 (storage and distribution) use as the applicant had demonstrated in excess of 
ten years of storage use (not linked to the occupation of Burcot House). The building 
now has an established lawful B8 use. 

1.4 The application is submitted in association with two other proposals for residential 
developments on land under the control of the applicant. A site to the north-west of 

Page 67

Agenda Item 10

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S0025/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 2 December 2019

the tennis court building, known as ‘Plot 3’ is the subject of an application for the 
erection of a five-bedroom dwelling (application ref P19/S0058/FUL)and the former 
chapel building within the wider grounds of Burcot House is proposed to be converted 
into a two-bedroom dwelling (application ref P18/S4261/FUL). 

1.5 A plan identifying the site is attached as Appendix 1.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The proposal is to convert the tennis court building into two four-bedroom dwellings. 

Internal mezzanines would be installed over part of the ground floor to create first-floor 
bedroom and bathroom areas with two large open plan kitchen/dining and livings areas 
with double height internal ceilings not covered by a first-floor living area. External 
repairs to the building will take place and internal insulation installed to ensure the 
dwellings meet current building regulations.  Off-road car parking and turning areas will 
also be created along with rear garden areas that would extend around 37 metres to 
the south. An area of water meadow between the proposed gardens and River Thames 
would be maintained. 

2.2 Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application are attached at Appendix 
2. Full copies of the plans and consultation responses are available for inspection on 
the Council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Clifton Hampden Parish Council – Objection;

The access is a single carriageway track and is not sufficient for the proposed usage.

OCC Archaeological Services - No objection; 
The proposals outlined would not appear to have an invasive impact upon any known 
archaeological sites or features. As such there are no archaeological constraints to this 
scheme.

Countryside Officer - No objection;
The existing building supports a low number of relatively common bat species. 
Working methods and replacement roosting provisions are recommended in the 
ecological appraisal. No objection is made subject to the use of a planning condition to 
ensure evidence of successful receipt of a European Protected Species license is 
submitted prior to commencement of the conversion works. 

Drainage Engineer - No objection;
No objection is made subject to the use of conditions to secure full drainage system 
details. 

Environment Agency – Objection;
Initial objection as it appeared the proposed dwellings would be within Flood Zone 3b. 
A revised Flood Risk Assessment was submitted demonstrating the building is not 
within Flood Zone 3b. However, an objection was maintained as the majority of the 
application site remains in Flood Zone 3b. 

Forestry Officer - No objection;
No objections subject to tree protection and landscaping conditions being attached. The 
tree protection condition to ensure the satisfactory protection of retained trees and the 
landscaping condition to the ensure that some trees are planted to screen and soften 
the proposed development and replace the trees that have been removed. 
Some tree protection information has been submitted within the tree survey report. 
However, the extent of the tree protection fencing is not sufficient to protect the root 

Page 68

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 2 December 2019

protection area (RPA) of T18 Horse Chestnut. This can be achieved and therefore the 
an additional condition should require that information is submitted. 

OCC Highways Liaison Officer – No objection;
The vehicle movements associated with a B8 use with regards to the TRICS database 
generates a significantly higher level compared to two residential units. This reduced 
level of movements associated with the proposal is unlikely to result in a 
recommendation for refusal on Highway Safety grounds. Furthermore, it is noted that 
issues have been raised with the characteristics of the access drive, however this is on 
private land and improvements to it are the responsibilities of the land owner. Given the 
characteristics of the carriageway, vehicular traffic and speeds are considered to be 
relatively low. No objection subject to conditions to secure off-road parking and turning 
areas. 

SGN Plant Protection Team - No objection; 
Confirm no plant is located within application site other than a low-pressure gas main 
under the private road. Advice is given about safe working around these installations. 

Neighbour responses:
Three letters of objection were received from neighbouring occupiers. Objections to the 
scheme have been summarised as follows:

- The existing private drive would not be able to support the additional traffic that 
would be generated by the three proposed developments; 

- The transport statement submitted does not accurately reflect the very low 
vehicle movements currently associated with the ‘storage’ building; 

- The applicant states that the western access to the A415 would be used but, 
there would be no way to stop future occupiers using the eastern access 
causing further damage to the lane along this stretch; 

- Increased chance of obstructions and conflicts between vehicles at the A415 
junctions with the private road (Horseshoe Lane); 

- The site is within the Green Belt and harm to openness would occur; 
- Surface water flooding should not be increased; 
- Concern has been raised over the removal of mature trees in advance of the 

submissions;
- Trees that remain should be surveyed or protected; 
- Loss of privacy to occupiers of The Coach House, the neighbouring dwelling to 

the east;
- Increased noise over and above the existing domestic/storage use of the 

building;
- Other matters are noted with regards to inaccurate land ownership boundaries. 

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P19/S0058/FUL – Awaiting decision (see current committee agenda) 

Proposed erection of a detached five-bedroom dwelling and a detached double garage.

P18/S4261/FUL – Awaiting decision (see current committee agenda)
Proposed conversion of the de-consecrated chapel to create a two bedroom dwelling 
house with associated parking and amenity space provision.

P17/S1432/PEM – Response (17/07/2017)
1. Proposed conversion of the former tennis court building to create 2 dwellings with 
associated parking and amenity space. 2. Erection of a single detached dwelling and 
detached garage at land to south of Creek End

Page 69

http://sav-intranet.capitacouncilspartnership.co.uk/jsp/packages/planning/PA_Summary.jsp?REF=P19/S0058/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P18/S4261/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/S1432/PEM


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 2 December 2019

P16/S4143/LDE - Approved (03/02/2017)
The existing use of the building is for B8 Storage purposes

P99/W0717 – Withdrawn (31/01/2000)
Construct a tennis court with a 3m high wire netting fence on metal posts. Fencing 
36.5m x 18.2m.

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires applications 

for planning permission be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 provides that the local planning authority shall have regard to the 
provisions of the Development Plan, so far as material to the application, and to any other 
material considerations. The council’s adopted development plan comprises the South 
Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) and the saved policies of the South Oxfordshire Local 
Plan (SOLP). The relevant polices and supporting guidance are listed below.

5.2 Development Plan:

South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) policies:
 CS1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development;
 CSS1 – The Overall Strategy;
 CSR1 – Housing in Villages;
 CSEN1 – Landscape; 
 CSEN2 – Green Belt;
 CSQ3 – Design;
 CSB1 – Conservation and improvement of biodiversity.

South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) policies:
 H4 – Housing in villages;
 C6 – Biodiversity;
 C8 – Protected species;
 C9 – Landscape features;
 D1 – Good design and local distinctiveness;
 D2 – Vehicle and bicycle parking;
 D3 – Outdoor amenity space;
 D4 – Neighbouring amenities;
 E8 – Conversion of rural buildings; 
 G2 – Protecting the district from adverse development; 
 GB4 – Green belt (visual amenity); 
 T1 – Safe access;
 T2 – Parking and turning. 

5.3 Neighbourhood Plan:
 The Parish of Clifton Hampden are currently preparing a neighbourhood plan. 

The neighbourhood area was formally designated in September 2014. The 
parish council has started the process of gathering evidence and engaging with 
the local community. As the plan remains at an early pre-draft stage is 
possesses only very limited weight in the assessment of this application. 

5.4 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents:
 South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016).

Page 70

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S4143/LDE
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P99/W0717


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 2 December 2019

5.5 National Planning Policy:
 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF);
 National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG).

5.6 Emerging local plan
Paragraph 48 of the NPPF allows for weight to be given to relevant policies in emerging 
plans, unless other material considerations indicate otherwise, and only subject to the 
stage of preparation of the plan, the extent of unresolved objections and the degree of 
consistency of the relevant emerging policies with the NPPF. 

Emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2034.
The council has submitted the Local Plan 2034 to the Planning Inspector for an 
independent examination following public consultation. 
  
On 10 October 2019 the Secretary of State for Housing Communities and Local 
Government issued a Holding Direction on the Council in relation to the emerging Local 
Plan 2034. The holding direction has been made under the provisions of Section 21A of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. This means that the emerging plan 
has 'no effect whilst the direction is in force', this is set out in section 21A(2) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. The emerging Local Plan has no weight 
at this stage.

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The application site is located within a rural village that is washed over by the Oxford 

Green Belt. The site is also in proximity to neighbouring domestic properties. The 
proposal would mainly comprise the conversion of the building to create two new 
dwellings. Therefore, the main issues to consider are as follows:

 The principle of the development having regards to the housing delivery 
and Green Belt policies of the development plan;

 Highways impacts;
 Impact on neighbouring properties;
 Biodiversity;
 Drainage and flood risk. 

6.2
Principle of development – new housing
Policy CSS1 of the SOCS details the spatial strategy for new development across the 
district during the plan period. It sets out a settlement hierarchy that seeks to direct 
major new development to the growth point of Didcot, with smaller developments 
supported in the main towns and various sizes of village across the district, specifically:

(iv) supporting other villages in the rest of the district by allowing for 
limited amounts of housing and employment and by the provision and 
retention of services; and
(v) outside the towns and villages, and other major developed sites, 
any change will need to relate to very specific needs such as those of 
the agricultural industry or enhancement of the environment.…

So, the general principle of new residential development is supported if the site is within 
the built-up limits (BuL) of a village. The site is considered to be within the built-up limits 
of Burcot which is defined as a ‘smaller village’ within the SOCS. The woodland to the 
east is arguably not part of the built-up limits of the village but, the tennis court building 
is more closely associated with the domestic dwellings that extend to the north and 
west. It has been in place for a number of decades firstly, in a domestic use and more 

Page 71



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 2 December 2019

recently in a storage use. So, the broad principle of new housing development is 
supported by the overall development strategy. 

6.3 SOCS policy CSR1 states that redevelopment proposals (to provide new housing) in all 
categories of settlement may be acceptable but, will be considered on a case by case 
basis through the development management process in line with other policies in the 
Development Plan. SOLP policy H4 states that proposal for new housing within the 
built-up areas of villages will be permitted providing:

i. an important open space of public, environmental or ecological value is not lost, 
nor an important public view spoilt;

ii. the design, height, scale and materials of the proposed development are in 
keeping with its surroundings;

iii. the character of the area is not adversely affected;
iv. there are no overriding amenity, environmental or highway objections; and
v. if the proposal constitutes backland development, it would not create problems 

of privacy and access and would not extend the built limits of the settlement.

I do not consider the proposal would conflict with points i or v and generally I consider it 
would be possible for the development to comply with the other criteria (although this 
will be assessed in greater detail below). With specific regard to criteria ii and iii I 
consider generally there would be benefits to the visual appearance of the site and 
wider area as the existing building would be improved (without being increased in 
scale) through the residential conversion. Existing mature trees that form the most 
prominent landscape features are also proposed to be retained and subject to condition 
the district’s Forestry Officer offers no objection to the scheme. The character and 
appearance of the site would therefore be preserved. 

6.4 I also have regard to the requirements of SOLP policy E8 that relates to the conversion 
of rural buildings. The lawful use of the tennis court building is not agricultural nor a 
rural business use, and it is considered to be within the built-up limits of the village, so 
E8 does not strictly apply in terms of the establishing principle. However, in assessing 
the wider impacts of the proposal, the criteria are likely to be relevant to my wider 
planning judgements. The applicant has noted that permitted development rights 
potentially exist to permit a change of use of the B8 unit into residential use. I am 
unable to attribute significant weight to this as a fall-back position as an application for 
prior approval has not been sought or granted (it is possible it could be but, flood risk 
may be an issue that would prevent the permitted development right from being 
exercised). 

6.5 Taking into account the above, I am satisfied that the general principle of the residential 
conversion in this location is supported by SOCS CSR1 and SOLP policy H4.

6.6
Principle of development – Green Belt
The site (and wider village) is within the Oxford Green Belt, where new development is 
strictly controlled. Policy CSEN2 defers to the NPPF for most types of development. 
NPPF Paragraphs 145 and 146 define various types of development that are 
considered to be not inappropriate. In this case, the proposal has potential to be 
included within para. 145(f) as a form of partial or complete redevelopment of 
previously developed land (PDL) or para. 146(d) as the re-use of buildings provided 
that the buildings are of permanent and substantial construction. 

6.7 The applicant has submitted a structural report demonstrating the building is capable of 
conversion. Repairs would be needed but, these could be undertaken without planning 
permission (as they would generally not be deemed to be development under s.55 of 

Page 72



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 2 December 2019

The Act). Internal works would also be required (again these would mostly not be works 
deemed development under s.55 of The Act. and I consider it is therefore of a 
permanent and substantial construction. 

6.8 In any case, the proposal does not involve any significant extensions to the existing 
building and would result in the creation of two new dwellings within a settlement (so 
would not be a form of urban encroachment in my view). Householder permitted 
development rights can be removed to prevent extension and outbuildings being 
constructed that could erode the openness of the site, particularly to the south. During 
the application assessment some concern was also raised by officers over the potential 
for the spread of domestic garden curtilages across the entire red-lined site area. This 
could have resulted in the entire site being used as domestic garden (with associated 
garden planting and domestic chattels). A curtilage plan has been submitted that 
demonstrates two areas of land serving each dwelling that would act as domestic 
curtilages (where activities reasonably expected to take place within garden land could 
occur). A planning condition can restrict the domestic curtilages to those shown on the 
applicant’s plans. This would prevent future spread of overly suburban domestic land 
across the site (also limiting future harm to the Green Belt from suburban 
encroachment). As such, I accept the proposal is a form of not inappropriate 
development within the Green Belt and is supported in general principle by the housing 
delivery and Green Belt policies of the development plan.

6.9
Highways impacts
SOLP policy H4 seeks to resist new residential development that would result in 
adverse impacts to the safety and operation of the public highway. SOLP policies D2, 
T1 and T2 together seek to ensure that all new development has safe access and 
sufficient off-road parking and turning areas. As stated above, the site is accessed from 
the public highway (A415) by stretch of private road over a distance of approximately 
150 metres to the site (from the western access) and 250 metres from the eastern 
boundary. Sufficient provision of off-road parking and turning areas have been 
proposed. As such, I am satisfied the provisions of SOLP policies D2 and T2 would be 
met. 

6.10 However, the existing private road (referred to locally as the ‘Horseshoe Lane’) is not 
well-surfaced, has no pedestrian footway and lacks sufficient width to allow two 
vehicles to pass along much of its length. The tennis court site is located in closer 
proximity to the western access but has a more direct route to the eastern access, so it 
is reasonable to expect the impact would be to the both of the accesses onto the 
Horseshoe Lane from the A415. The two access points with the A415 are considered to 
possess good visibility and are set back from the carriageway by approximately one car 
length. Both accesses are bell-mouth designed, wide enough to allow a car to enter 
and exit at the junction with the public highway. However, at both access points the 
private road narrows to a single width in close proximity to the access so there would 
be some potential for conflict between vehicles (travelling in opposing directions) at 
these points if traffic were substantially increased. 

6.11 The applicant has submitted a transport assessment to attempt to demonstrate that the 
combined impacts of the two residential developments at the Tennis Court and Plot 3 
sites would not be harmful in comparison to the fall-back position. The vehicle 
movements of the lawful storage use of the tennis court are assessed against the 
expected traffic movements associated with the residential developments and it has 
been concluded the fall-back use has a greater potential to be harmful. The chapel 
conversion development has not been included within the transport assessment but, 
the applicant has separately concluded that its conversion would not be harmful in 
addition to the greater impacts of the other developments and I do not dispute this view. 

Page 73



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 2 December 2019

6.12 The applicant also acknowledges that the Plot 3 site will generate additional traffic 
movements over and above the fall-back use of that site (as it currently has no 
particular use in planning terms). However, the transport statement reasons that the 
established use of the tennis court site (a B8 storage and distribution use) could 
generate a significant number of vehicle movements (including large commercial 
vehicles) if it remained in a business use class. These uses have been assessed 
against the TRICS database, a nationwide dataset that provides a typical traffic 
generation rate for various planning uses in comparative locations across the UK. It is 
suggested by the TRICS data that a B8 use of the Tennis Court building could generate 
up to 25 traffic movements per day, potentially involving larger commercial vehicles. If 
permitted development rights were exercised to change the use of the building into B1 
(office) use this number would be likely to increase.  

6.13 The TRICS data provided by the applicant suggests that two 4-bedroom dwellings 
could generate up to 20 vehicle movements per day (reasonably considered to be 
domestic vehicles). The applicant’s conclusion is that the potential for traffic generation 
from the lawful and permitted uses of the tennis court building would be greater than 
the traffic generation for the proposed residential developments. On that basis, the 
developments are not considered to justify improvements to the Horseshoe Lane or its 
junctions onto Abingdon Road. I do not fully accept that the maximum vehicle 
movements suggested by the TRICS data would realistically materialise over time in 
this location. Burcot is a rural village. Many of the TRICS data examples given are edge 
of town locations so not entirely comparable in my view. The site is located in fairly 
close proximity to Culham Science Centre and the larger settlements of Dorchester-on-
Thames and Berinsfield so some level of potential future commercial use must be 
reasonably accepted. Several third-party responses have noted that the historic use of 
the building by a theatre company has not generated significant numbers of vehicle 
movements. I accept that vehicle movements have been very low, but this only serves 
to highlight that any increase in commercial use would be harmful, particularly if larger 
vehicles were used. 

6.14 The County Council Highways Liaison Officer has reviewed the Transport Statement 
and has offered no objection in terms of the impact of the development on users of the 
public highway. It was informally agreed that the maximum vehicle movements 
(assumed to be generated by the fall-back uses) are unlikely to be realistically reached 
given the rural village location and condition of the private road. However, it was 
acknowledged that commercial storage and business uses are not uncommon in rural 
village locations across the district, so some level of commercial vehicle use is 
accepted. The proposed residential conversions would prevent more intensive 
commercial uses being established which is considered to be to the merit of the 
proposals in terms of highway impacts.

6.15 In my view, there is an argument that mitigation can be sought to minimise potential 
damage to the lane during the construction period of the development. If damage is 
caused it appears reasonable to require the private road is reinstated to its condition 
prior to the construction works taking place. Seeking improvements to the lane (over 
and above its existing condition) would be unreasonable as they are not considered to 
be required to mitigate the development and such a requirement would be straying into 
private, rather than public interests. A construction traffic and environmental 
management plan (CTEMP) can also be required by condition, to be submitted prior to 
the commencement of the development. 

Page 74



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 2 December 2019

6.16 On balance, I am satisfied that subject to the recommended conditions the 
development would not conflict with the aims of SOCS policy CSQ3 or SOLP policies 
D1, D2, G2, H4, T1 or T2. 

6.17
Impact on neighbouring residential amenities
The conversion of the tennis court has some potential to impact on the amenities of 
nearby residents. The closest neighbouring dwelling is at The Coach House 
approximately 12.5 metres to the north-west of the tennis court building. The Coach 
House has a large, south-facing window that is thought to serve a habitable room (living 
room or dining room). Overlooking from the tennis court building may occur but, this 
would be over obtuse angles and existing trees would provide some screening. Overall, 
I do not consider an unacceptably harmful loss of privacy would occur. The removal of 
permitted development rights (sought above to satisfy green belt policy) would also 
prevent the creation of any additional doors, windows or extensions to the building that 
could increase impact no neighbouring amenities. Subject to these conditions I 
consider the development complies with SOCS policy CSQ3 and SOLP policies D1, 
D4, G2 and H4. 

6.18
Biodiversity
As the site is close to woodland and the River Thames there is a reasonable potential 
for protected species to benefit from habitat and/or foraging opportunities across the 
site and surrounding land. The applicant has submitted an ecological survey detailing 
that a number of protected species were noted either within the site or the surrounding 
woodland. The district’s Countryside Officer reviewed the submitted information that 
confirms the existing building supports a low number of relatively common bat species. 
Working methods and replacement roosting provisions are recommended in the 
ecological appraisal. No objection is made subject to the use of a planning condition to 
ensure evidence of successful receipt of a European Protected Species license is 
submitted prior to commencement of the conversion works (to demonstrate the required 
mitigation measures can go ahead). I consider the condition is reasonable and 
necessary in order to ensure the development complies with policies C6 and C8 of the 
SOLP, policy CSB1 of the SOCS and paragraph 170 of the NPPF. 

6.19
Flood Risk and drainage 
Much of the red-lined site area appears to be within Flood Zone 3b, the functional flood 
plain “land where water has to flow or be stored in times of flood”. The applicant 
submitted a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) that was reviewed by the Environment 
Agency (EA) and an objection made as much of the site and building appeared to be 
within Flood Zone 3b. A revised FRA was submitted demonstrating that the building is 
outside of Flood Zone 3b and that a safe, flood-free evacuation route was available. 
However, the EA have maintained an objection due to much of the remainder of the site 
being within Flood Zone 3b. 

6.20 The revised FRA demonstrates that the existing ground floor level of the tennis court 
building is located outside of Flood Zone 3b and would be flood-free in 1:20, 1:100 and 
1:1000 year events. There would also be a flood-free evacuation route along the private 
road that would also be outside of Flood Zone 3b. Whilst the EA maintain the site is 
within flood zone 3b there appears to be evidence to demonstrate the site is within two 
or more Flood Zones. Where a site spans two, or more, Flood Zones the district 
council’s Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) advises the following:

The NPPF states that a sequential, risk-based approach should be applied to try 
to locate more vulnerable land use away from Flood Zones, to higher ground, 
while more flood-compatible development (e.g. vehicular parking, recreational 
space) can possibly be located in higher risk areas. However, vehicular parking 

Page 75



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 2 December 2019

in floodplains should be based on the nature of parking, flood depths and 
hazard including evacuation procedures and flood warning and should not 
compromise floodplain storage or obstruct floodplain flows.

Waterside areas, or areas along known flow routes, can act as Green 
Infrastructure, being used for recreation, amenity and environmental purposes,   
allowing the preservation of flow routes and flood storage, and at the same time 
providing valuable social and environmental benefits contributing to other 
sustainability objectives. Landscaping should ensure safe access to higher 
ground from these areas, and avoid the creation of isolated islands as flood 
water levels rise.

6.21 The revised FRA suggests this approach can be achieved as the existing building 
would not be within Flood Zone 3b. It is raised in height by around 2-2.5 metres from 
the level of the majority of the existing garden land at Burcot House and the water 
meadow extending south to the banks of the River Thames. The proposed garden 
areas would be used solely for amenity purposes and no changes to the levels of those 
areas are proposed. The wider site, outside of the gardens, would also be retained as 
water meadow and woodland. The removal of permitted development rights for 
outbuildings would prevent any potential creation of additional living space within Flood 
Zone 3 (as well as protecting openness and existing trees). 

6.22 The FRA also proposes flood resilience measures for the building and an evacuation 
route. The EA do not directly comment on such matters but, it is noted that 
incorporating flood resilience measures into a new development in proximity to a higher 
risk Flood Zone is encouraged by standing advice. These measures can be secured by 
planning condition. 

6.23 On balance, whilst it must be accepted that an element of flood risk would be present to 
future occupiers of the development, I also accept the applicant’s evidence that the new 
dwellings would be outside of Flood Zone 3b. The placement of amenity areas within 
Flood Zone 3b does not appear to conflict with the aims of the SFRA or NPPF and 
subject to restrictions to permitted development rights within these areas I consider 
flood risk would remain low and no harm would be caused to the function of the flood 
plain in this location. I acknowledge the EA’s objection, but taking into account the 
individual site circumstances and advice within the SFRA and NPPF I do not conclude 
there is sufficient reason to recommend refusal of planning permission. 

6.24
Other matters
The council’s CIL charging schedule applies to relevant proposals from 1 April 2016. 
CIL is a planning charge that local authorities can implement to help deliver 
infrastructure and to support the development of their area, and is primarily calculated 
on the increase in footprint created as a result of the development. In this case CIL 
would be liable for the construction of the new dwelling and any associated 
outbuildings.  

6.25 NPPF Paragraph 38 details the need for Local planning authorities to approach 
planning decisions in a positive and creative way, using the full range of planning tools 
available and working proactively with applicants to secure developments that will 
improve the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area. Subject to 
some minor revisions and clarifications the proposal is now considered to be in 
accordance with the development plan and is a sustainable form of development.

Page 76



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 2 December 2019

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 It is recommended that members grant planning permission as the proposed 

development would help to secure additional housing through conversion of an existing 
building within the built-up limits of a ‘smaller village’ where some small-scale provision 
of new housing is supported through the spatial development strategy of the 
development plan. Whilst there is an element of flood risk to the rear gardens, the 
dwellings would be flood free and acceptable mitigation and evacuation measures can 
be secured. The recommended conditions would safeguard future harm to protected 
trees, neighbouring amenities, the general character and appearance of the area and 
highway safety. The proposed development therefore complies with the development 
plan and is a sustainable development.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 Planning permission is granted subject to the following conditions;

1. Three-year time limit; 
2. Approved plans;
3. EPS License;

Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, including any 
site clearance or demolition, evidence of the successful receipt of a European 
protected species licence, or evidence of the successful registration of the site 
under the bat low impact class licence, from Natural England, specific to this 
development, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. 

Reason: To protect the important species on site, in accordance with Policy 
CSB1 of the SOCS, Policies C6 and C8 of the SOLP and paragraph 170 of the
NPPF.

4. Construction Traffic and Environmental Management Plan (pre-
commencement);

5. Survey of road and required repairs (prior to commencement); 
Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved a condition 
survey of the access road (that extends from the site to the eastern access point 
of the ‘Horseshoe Lane’ with the A415) shall be undertaken and submitted to 
the local planning authority. Prior to the occupation of the dwelling a scheme to 
restore the road and verges (to its condition prior to the commencement of the 
development) shall be completed in accordance with a written scheme of 
restoration that shall first be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to protect the amenities of 
neighbouring occupiers in accordance with Policies T1 and EP2 of the South 
Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

6. Tree protection (in accordance with details to be submitted prior to 
commencement); 

7. Parking and turning; 
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, the off-road 
parking and turning areas and access road passing places shall be constructed 
in full in accordance with site layout drawing no. 15117-TP13-A and in 
accordance with a written surface materials specification that shall first be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The written 
details shall include (as a minimum) a photographic example of each material, 

Page 77



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 2 December 2019

the material name, manufacturer/supplier name and details of the 
permeability/porousness of the material. Thereafter the development shall be 
completed in accordance with the approved details and the parking and turning 
areas shall be retained unobstructed except for the intended use at all times. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to ensure the provision of off-
street car parking in accordance with policies CSEN1 and CSQ3 of the South 
Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 Policies D1, D2, T1 and T2 of the South 
Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

8. Drainage (prior to occupation);
The dwellings hereby approved shall not be occupied or brought into use until 
they have been connected to drainage systems for both foul and surface water 
disposal, the details of which shall first be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the local planning authority. The details submitted shall demonstrate how the 
proposed drainage systems will be compliant with sustainable drainage (SuDS) 
principles. 

Reason: To prevent pollution and to ensure adequate drainage infrastructure is 
provided in accordance with Policies EP1 and EP6 of the South Oxfordshire 
Local Plan 2011. 

9. Site planting scheme;
The dwellings hereby approved shall not be occupied or brought into use until a 
scheme for the planting of trees, shrubs and hedges within the site has been 
carried out in full in accordance with written details that shall first be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The written details 
shall include: 

- Details of the species, locations and numbers of all trees, shrubs and hedges 
to be planted; 
- written planting and maintenance specifications; 
- Plan showing all trees/hedges to be retained; 
- Plan showing all trees/hedges to be removed. 

In the event of any of the trees, shrubs or hedges planted as part of the 
approved scheme dying or being seriously damaged or destroyed within 5 years 
of the completion of the development, a new tree, shrub or hedge of equivalent 
number and species, or of a species and number as first approved by the Local 
Planning Authority, shall be planted and properly maintained in a position or 
positions first approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: To help to assimilate the development into its surroundings in 
accordance with Policies CSEN1, CSEN2 and CSQ3 of the South Oxfordshire 
Core Strategy 2027 and Policies C9, D1 G2, and H4 of the South Oxfordshire 
Local Plan 2011.

10. Ecology compliance with appraisal;
The development hereby approved shall be implemented strictly in accordance 
with the recommendations made in section 7 of the supporting Ecological 
Appraisal (Philip Parker Associates, 28/11/2018, Ref: P2018-49 R1 FINAL). Any 
variation from the approved details shall first be agreed in writing by the local 
planning authority prior to any such changes being implemented. This condition 
will be discharged through the receipt of a letter from the project ecologist, 
providing evidence that the details were implemented as approved. 

Page 78



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 2 December 2019

Reason: To minimise the impact of development on biodiversity, in accordance 
with Policy CSB1 of the SOCS, Policies C6 and C8 of the SOLP and paragraph 
170 of the NPPF.

11. Domestic curtilage restriction; 
12. Removal of house holder permitted development rights;

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) (or any Order 
revoking or re-enacting that Order), no development as described in Schedule 
2, Part 1, Classes A to F of the Order shall be undertaken without the prior 
written permission of the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: To ensure the significance of the non-designated heritage asset is 
preserved and in the interests of the character and appearance of the site in 
accordance with the aims of policies CSEN3 and CSQ3 of the South 
Oxfordshire Core Strategy, policies D1, D4 and G2 of the South Oxfordshire 
Local Plan and paragraph 197 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Author:         David Millinship
Contact No:  01235 422600
Email:            planning@southoxon.gov.uk

 

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



The Chapel

The Coach House

Tanglewood

Linden House

The Spinney

The Lodge

Fair Beeches

Beech Cottage

Creek End

The Lourels

Riverside

Cedar Gables

Thames Lodge

Grantchester House

Burcot House

Grange House

Stamford House

Little Mead

Northfield

BU
RC

O
T 

PA
RK

A 415

53.6m

53.6m

46.9m

Boat House

0 50

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM 
THIS DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY.  COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

project title

drawing title

client name

first issued drawn scale

job/drawing no/revision

status

revision date description

The  Studio, 70 Church  Road, Wheatley, Oxford, OX33 1LZ
01865 873936 info@andersonorr.com www.andersonorr.com

1:1250 @ A3

Location Plan

03/13/17 JS

Tennis Court Site, Burcot, Oxon

MR N MULLARD & MRS F BRANN

15117 - TP10 -

PLANNING

Appendix 1

P
age 81

A
genda Item

 10

AGould_1
Polyline

AGould_2
Rectangle

AGould_3
Rectangle



E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

T
T

T

T

T

0 15

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM 
THIS DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY.  COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

project title

drawing title

client name

first issued drawn scale

job/drawing no/revision

status

revision date description

The Studio, 70 Church  Road, Wheatley, Oxford,  OX33  1LZ
01865 873936 info@andersonorr.com www.andersonorr.com

Site Plan

03/08/17 CH

Tennis Court Site, Burcot, Oxon

MR N MULLARD & MRS F BRANN

15117 - TP13 -

PLANNING

1:250 @ A2

Appendix 2

Page 82

AGould_4
Polyline

AGould_5
Line

AGould_6
Line

AGould_7
Arrow

AGould_8
Arrow

AGould_9
Textbox
Green edged area denotes extent of the proposed residential curtilages with remaining land being retained as  woodland or water-meadow

AGould_10
Textbox

AGould_11
Textbox

AGould_12
Textbox
A

AGould_13
Textbox

AGould_14
Textbox



Vent

Corrugated iron roof

Brick

Rear - south elevation

Datum 47.00mDatum 47.00m

Steel tie

opening
Window

B
ri
ck

(obstructed)

Sliding door

Brick

Timber

Timber

Steel tie

Steel tie

Timber

Front - north elevation

(obstructed)

Vent

Steel tie

Steel tie

Steel tieSteel tie

Steel tie
Steel tie

Sliding doorSliding door

SVP

roof panel

Transparent

roof panel

Transparent

roof panel

Transparent

Brick
Timber

Timber

Timber

Timber

Timber

Corrugated iron roof

Bolt

B
ri
ck

 w
a
ll

CementCement

Brick

Brick

B
ri
ck

Timber

Brick

Side - east elevation

Steel tie

Vent

Brick

SVP

Steel tie
Steel tieSteel tie

Timber

Pipe

SVP

Side - west elevation

(obstructed)

Render

Timber

Steel tie

Steel tie

Brick wall

Brick

(obstructed)

Datum 47.00m

Datum 47.00m

Datum 47.00m

Datum 47.00m

Datum 47.00m

Datum 47.00m

1:100   @   A2

www.andersonorr.cominfo@andersonorr.com01865 873936

The Studio,   70 Church  Road,   Wheatley,   Oxford,   OX33  1LZ

daterevision

status

job/drawing no/revision

scaledrawnfirst issued

client name

drawing title

project title

SURVEY

MR N MULLARD & MRS F BRANN

TENNIS COURT SITE

AC-

TENNIS COURT BUILDING ELEVATIONS

15117 - TSU03

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM THIS

DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY. COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

60

Page 83



1:100  @   A2

www.andersonorr.cominfo@andersonorr.com01865 873936

The Studio,   70 Church  Road,   Wheatley,   Oxford,   OX33  1LZ

daterevision

status

job/drawing no/revision

scaledrawnfirst issued

client name

drawing title

project title

SURVEY

MR N MULLARD & MRS F BRANN

TENNIS COURT FLOOR PLANS

AC-

FLOOR PLANS

15117 - TSU06

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM THIS

DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY. COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

60

Post

SVPRWP

SVP

Truss

S
e

c
ti
o

n

Steel tie

Concrete floor

Timber studs

Timber cladding

Truss post

Timber studs

Timber cladding

Truss post

Steel tie

Datum 46.00m

Section

S
e

c
ti
o

n

S
te

e
l t

i e

Ste
el
 ti
e

P
age 84



PLOT 1 PLOT 2

existing doors to be modified as shown 
to create full height glazed windows 

new proposed windows to first floor

existing rooflights to be replaced

PLOT 1PLOT 2

proposed windows to first floornew propsoed windows to first floor

proposed windows to first floor

south elevation

east elevationwest elevation

north elevation

existing windows to be removed and 
openings to be adjusted and infilled 
in brickwork to match existing to 
accomodate new windows

existing rooflights to be removed

existing windows to be removed and 
openings to be adjusted and infilled 
in boarding to match existing to 
accomodate new windows

new proposed windows to first floor

proposed rooflights

brick

timber boardingtimber boarding

timber boarding timber boarding

brick

brick

timber boarding

brick

corrugated iron roof

corrugated iron roof

existing windows to be removed and 
openings to be adjusted and infilled 
in boarding to match existing to 
accomodate new windows

proposed windows to ground floor

proposed windows to ground floor

existing windows to be removed and 
openings to be adjusted and infilled 
in boarding to match existing to 
accomodate new windows + doors

proposed windows to ground floor

0 5

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM 
THIS DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY.  COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

project title

drawing title

client name

first issued drawn scale

job/drawing no/revision

status

revision date description

The Studio, 70 Church  Road, Wheatley, Oxford,  OX33  1LZ
01865 873936 info@andersonorr.com www.andersonorr.com

1:100  @  A2

Elevations

03/10/17 CH

Tennis Court Site, Burcot, Oxon

MR N MULLARD & MRS F BRANN

15117 - TP12 -

PLANNING

P
age 85



study

utility room

cloaks

bedroom 1
boot room

en-suiteutility room

boot room

dashed line indicates 
structural frame above

proposed new 
window openings

study

cloakstv room tv room

bedroom 1

PLOT 1PLOT 2

kitchen kitchen

dining dining

living living

existing construction

proposed new construction

en-suite

linen room

master bedroom

bedroom 3

bedroom 2

bathroom

dressing

en-suite

gallery

bathroom

bedroom 2
linen room

bedroom 3

master bedroom

en-suite

dressing

gallery

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM 
THIS DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY.  COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

project title

drawing title

client name

first issued drawn scale

job/drawing no/revision

status

revision date description

The Studio, 70 Church  Road, Wheatley, Oxford,  OX33  1LZ
01865 873936 info@andersonorr.com www.andersonorr.com

Floor Plans

05/10/17 CH

Tennis Court Site, Burcot, Oxon

MR N MULLARD & MRS F BRANN

15117 - TP11 -

PLANNING
GROUND FLOOR PLAN

FIRST FLOOR PLAN

Page 86

SAV_trabat
Distance Measurement
Distance:
30.12 m

SAV_trabat_1
Distance Measurement
Distance:
13.83 m



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

APPLICATION NO. P19/S0058/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 8.1.2019
PARISH CLIFTON HAMPDEN
WARD MEMBER(S) Sam Casey-Rerhaye
APPLICANT Mr N Mullard & Mrs F Brann
SITE Land to the south of Creek End Abingdon Road 

Burcot, OX14 3DJ
PROPOSAL Proposed erection of a detached five bedroom 

dwelling and a detached double garage.
OFFICER David Millinship

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 The application has been referred to planning committee due to conflict between the 

Officer’s recommendation and the views of the parish council (objections due to the 
inadequate access).

1.2 The application site comprises an area of mostly open grassland set within a wider 
suburban housing development in the rural village of Burcot. The site and village are 
entirely washed over by the Oxford Green Belt. 

1.3 The site lies off a private road to the south of the A415 that also provides shared 
access to a number of mainly domestic properties. The easternmost area of the site is 
populated by a number of mature trees (predominantly oak) and has recently been 
subject to a Tree Preservation Order (TPO). There are also three Cypress trees 
grouped along the northern boundary, three Cypress trees grouped in the south-
western area of the site and a nearby walnut tree that are also under TPO.

1.4 Residential properties share the northern and eastern boundaries with the private 
drive skirting the western and southern boundaries with other residential properties 
beyond. The buildings in the area are a mixture of historic properties (including Burcot 
House) with late C20 dwellings infilling the land between Burcot House (to the south) 
and the A415 (to the north). There is little uniformity between the scale and design of 
individual buildings or plot layouts. The majority of buildings and plots in the area are 
large, set out in irregular layouts with some pockets of tree planting that have 
remained undeveloped. 

1.5 A plan identifying the site is attached as Appendix 1.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The proposal is to construct a detached five-bedroom dwelling with vehicular access 

from the private lane within the western area of the site. Off-road parking and turning 
areas would be constructed with a detached double garage in the north-western site 
area. The dwelling would be a two-storey pitched roof building set broadly central to the 
site. The dwelling would be set out in an L-shape with its principal elevation facing 
west. It would occupy an external footprint of approximately 215 sq.m providing around 
320 sq.m of internal living space across the two floors. It would have a maximum ridge 
height of 8.8 metres with eaves heights of between 4.5-5 metres. 

Page 87

Agenda Item 11

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S0058/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

2.2 The garage would be a 1.5 storey building with a ridge height of 6 metres and an eaves 
height of 2.4 metres. It would occupy a footprint of 53 sq.m with space for the parking of 
two cars at ground level with an attic storage space within the roof space above. Some 
additional tree planting is proposed within the site and two passing places would also 
be provided to serve the private drive. One would be within the north-western site area 
(next to the access) and one to the south-east of the site where an existing site access 
appears to be present. 

2.2 Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application are attached at Appendix 
2. Full copies of the plans and consultation responses are available for inspection on 
the Council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Clifton Hampden Parish Council – Objection.

The access to the property is inadequate;

OCC Archaeological Services – No objection.
The proposals outlined would not appear to have an invasive impact upon any known 
archaeological sites or features and there are no archaeological constraints to this 
scheme;

Forestry Officer - No objection
Initial concerns were made over the potential impact of the passing place adjacent to 
the site access to damage the roots of a tree on the site. A revised site layout was 
submitted, and no further objection was made. 

SGN Plant Protection - No objection

OCC Highways Liaison Officer - No objection 
Subject to conditions to ensure the new access, off-road parking and turning areas are 
provided and the garage is retained for the parking of vehicles. A Grampian condition 
requiring off-site highway works (i.e. provision of a passing place) is also requested.  

Neighbour responses
Six third party responses were received from neighbouring occupiers as a result of the 
public consultation. Three responses raised objections to the scheme, which have been 
summarised as follows:

 The new dwelling would be too large and should be of a scale akin to the 
building at Creek End;

 The site has been open land in the Green Belt for over 50 years, the site area is 
also over the 0.2ha permitted to be infill development;

 The development conflicts with Section 13 of the NPPF as it would be 
inappropriate development; 

 Allowing this site to be developed (along with the other current planning 
applications) raises significant environmental and biodiversity concerns;

 Trees have been felled within the wider estate, further tree felling should not be 
permitted and the trees in the eastern area of the site should be protected from 
future development;

 The additional traffic movements (particularly construction traffic) will cause 
damage to the lane that would be the responsibility of the homeowners to 
repair; 

Page 88

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

 Additional traffic would make the accesses onto the A415 more unsafe than 
they currently are and the accesses and road will need to be upgraded and 
made wider to allow two vehicles to pass each other;

 The proposed passing places are too far from the A415 junction and are not 
visible, so vehicles will still have to drive across neighbour’s property to pass 
each other between the site and main road;

 Disagree with the findings of the transport statement as the Tennis Court 
building and current application site have generated little to no traffic for a 
number of years, due to major development along the A415 that road has 
become much busier over recent years;

 The application should be assessed in conjunction with the Tennis Court and 
Chapel applications as the cumulative impacts of all of these developers will 
make impacts more severe; 

 Surface water flooding has occurred in the locality due to run-off from farmland 
to the north and the poor state of the road drainage along the A415. The road 
drainage would need to be upgraded and assurances given that the 
development of Plot 3 would not lead to increased flooding in the future;

 Habitat available to local wildlife would be damaged;
 Below ground utilities and services run through Plot 3 to neighbouring 

properties;
 Many properties that would be affected by the development have not been 

consulted. 

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P19/S0025/FUL – Awaiting decision (see current committee agenda) 

Proposed conversion of the existing B8 storage building to create 2 x four-bedroom 
dwellings with associated parking and amenity space provision (as amended by 
additional Flood Risk Information received on 24-04-2019 and revised plan received on 
21-06-2019). (Revised Flood Risk Assessment received 4 July 2019).  

P18/S4261/FUL – Awaiting decision (see current committee agenda)
Proposed conversion of the de-consecrated chapel to create a two bedroom dwelling 
house with associated parking and amenity space provision.

P17/S3232/FUL - Approved (06/11/2017)
Conversion of existing garage and garage extension. To create annex to property as 
amplified by applicant email dated 6 October 2017.

P17/S1432/PEM – Response (17/07/2017)
1. Proposed conversion of the former tennis court building to create 2 dwellings with 
associated parking and amenity space. 2. Erection of a single detached dwelling and 
detached garage at land to south of Creek End
 
P16/S0543/PEM – Response (10/03/2016)
Proposed erection of a single detached dwelling house and detached garage

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires applications 

for planning permission be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 provides that the local planning authority shall have regard to the 
provisions of the Development Plan, so far as material to the application, and to any other 
material considerations. The council’s adopted development plan comprises the South 
Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) and the saved policies of the South Oxfordshire Local 
Plan (SOLP). The relevant polices and supporting guidance are listed below.

Page 89

http://sav-intranet.capitacouncilspartnership.co.uk/jsp/packages/planning/PA_Summary.jsp?REF=P19/S0025/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P18/S4261/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/S3232/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/S1432/PEM
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S0543/PEM


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

5.2 Development Plan:

South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) policies:
 CS1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development;
 CSS1 – The Overall Strategy;
 CSR1 – Housing in Villages;
 CSEN1 – Landscape; 
 CSEN2 – Green Belt;
 CSQ3 – Design;
 CSB1 – Conservation and improvement of biodiversity.

South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) policies:
 H4 – Housing in villages;
 C6 – Biodiversity;
 C8 – Protected species;
 C9 – Landscape features;
 D1 – Good design and local distinctiveness;
 D2 – Vehicle and bicycle parking;
 D3 – Outdoor amenity space;
 D4 – Neighbouring amenities;
 G2 – Protecting the district from adverse development; 
 GB4 – Green belt (visual amenity); 
 T1 – Safe access;
 T2 – Parking and turning. 

5.3 Neighbourhood Plan:
 The Parish of Clifton Hampden are currently preparing a neighbourhood plan. 

The neighbourhood area was formally designated in September 2014. The 
parish council has started the process of gathering evidence and engaging with 
the local community. As the plan remains at an early pre-draft stage is 
possesses only very limited weight in the assessment of this application. 

5.4 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents:
 South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016).

5.5 National Planning Policy:
 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF);
 National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG).

5.6 Emerging local plan
Paragraph 48 of the NPPF allows for weight to be given to relevant policies in emerging 
plans, unless other material considerations indicate otherwise, and only subject to the 
stage of preparation of the plan, the extent of unresolved objections and the degree of 
consistency of the relevant emerging policies with the NPPF. 

Emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2034.
The council has submitted the Local Plan 2034 to the Planning Inspector for an 
independent examination following public consultation. 
  
On 10 October 2019 the Secretary of State for Housing Communities and Local 
Government issued a Holding Direction on the Council in relation to the emerging Local 
Plan 2034. The holding direction has been made under the provisions of Section 21A of 

Page 90



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. This means that the emerging plan 
has 'no effect whilst the direction is in force', this is set out in section 21A(2) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. The emerging Local Plan has no weight 
at this stage.

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The application site is located within a rural village that is washed over by the Oxford 

Green Belt. Therefore, the main issues to consider are as follows:

 The principle of the development having regards to the housing delivery 
and Green Belt policies of the development plan;

 Highways impacts;
 Impact on neighbouring properties;
 Drainage and flood risk;
 Impact on trees

6.2
Principle of development – new housing
Policy CSS1 of the SOCS details the spatial strategy for new development across the 
district during the plan period. It sets out a settlement hierarchy that seeks to direct 
major new development to the growth point of Didcot, with smaller developments 
supported in the main towns and various sizes of village across the district, specifically:

(iv) supporting other villages in the rest of the district by allowing for 
limited amounts of housing and employment and by the provision and 
retention of services; and
(v) outside the towns and villages, and other major developed sites, 
any change will need to relate to very specific needs such as those of 
the agricultural industry or enhancement of the environment.…

So, the general principle of new residential development is supported if the site is within 
the built-up limits (BuL) of a village. The site is considered to be within the built-up limits 
of Burcot which is defined as a ‘smaller village’ within the SOCS. The site is surrounded 
by existing residential development and even in an undeveloped state the site 
character, and that of the wider area is distinctively that of an upmarket suburban area. 
There is little argument that the site is located in open countryside and I consider the 
broad principle of new housing development in this location is supported by the overall 
development strategy. 

6.3 SOCS policy CSR1 states that new housing will be supported within the ‘smaller 
villages’ providing that it is a form of infill development on sites less than 0.2ha in area 
(equivalent to 5-6 houses). In this case, the Plot 3 site is marginally over 0.2ha in total 
area but, around a third of the eastern area of the site is woodland now under TPO. 
The actual development site is less than 0.2ha. Whilst the proposal is for one large 
house within a spacious plot, I find this would not be out-of-character with the dwelling 
and plot sizes in the locality. SOLP policy H4 states that proposal for new housing 
within the built-up areas of villages will be permitted providing:

i. an important open space of public, environmental or ecological value is not lost, 
nor an important public view spoilt;

ii. the design, height, scale and materials of the proposed development are in 
keeping with its surroundings;

iii. the character of the area is not adversely affected;
iv. there are no overriding amenity, environmental or highway objections; and
v. if the proposal constitutes backland development, it would not create problems 

of privacy and access and would not extend the built limits of the settlement.

Page 91



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

I do not consider the proposal would conflict with points i or v although it is noted that 
several trees within the site have been placed under Tree Preservation Order (TPO) 
since the submission of the application. The proposal would not directly impact on 
these trees and they are proposed to be retained. The remainder of the site is open and 
flat, predominantly given over to grass. Generally, I consider it would be possible for the 
development to comply with the remaining criteria (although this will be assessed in 
greater detail below. As such, I am satisfied that the general principle of the new 
dwelling in this location is supported by SOCS CSR1 and SOLP policy H4 (subject to 
the more detailed considerations below). 

6.4
Principle of development – Green Belt
The site (and wider village) is within the Oxford Green Belt, where new development is 
strictly controlled. Policy CSEN2 defers to the NPPF for most types of development. 
NPPF Paragraphs 145 and 146 define various types of development that are 
considered to be not inappropriate. In this case, the proposal has potential to be 
included within para. 145(e) as a form of limited infilling within a village. As above, I 
accept the development is an infill site (as it is surrounded by existing residential 
properties) and I accept that as a proposal for one dwelling it is limited in scale. As 
such, I conclude the proposal is a form of not inappropriate development within the 
Green Belt and is supported in general principle by the housing delivery and Green Belt 
policies of the development plan. 

6.5
Highways impacts
SOLP policy H4 seeks to resist new residential development that would result in 
adverse impacts to the safety and operation of the public highway. SOLP policies D2, 
T1 and T2 together seek to ensure that all new development has safe access and 
sufficient off-road parking and turning areas. As stated above, the site is accessed from 
the public highway (A415) by a stretch of private road over a distance of approximately 
110 metres to the site. The Plot 3 site offers more than sufficient space to allow for 
provision of off-road parking and turning areas. As such, I am satisfied the provisions of 
SOLP policies D2 and T2 would be met. 

6.6 However, the existing private road (referred to locally as the ‘Horseshoe Lane’) is not 
well-surfaced, has no pedestrian footway and lacks sufficient width to allow two 
vehicles to pass along much of its length. The Horseshore Lane has two access points 
with the A415. Both are considered to possess good visibility and are set back from the 
carriageway by approximately one car length. Both accesses are bell-mouth designed, 
wide enough to allow a car to enter and exit at the junction with the public highway. 
However, at both the eastern and western access points the private road narrows to a 
single width in close proximity to the access so there would be some potential for 
conflict between vehicles (travelling in opposing directions) at these points. The Plot 3 
site is located in closer proximity to the western access so it is reasonable to expect the 
greatest impact would be to the western half of the Horseshoe Lane. 

6.7 The applicant has submitted a transport assessment to attempt to demonstrate that the 
combined impacts of the two residential developments at the Tennis Court and Plot 3 
sites would not be harmful in comparison to the fall-back position. The vehicle 
movements of the lawful fall-back use(s) of the sites are assessed against the expected 
traffic movements associated with the residential developments and it has been 
concluded the fall-back use has a greater potential to be harmful. The chapel 
conversion development has not been included within the transport assessment but, 
the applicant has concluded that its conversion would not be harmful in addition to the 
greater impacts of the other developments and I do not dispute this view. 

Page 92



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

6.8 The applicant also acknowledges that the Plot 3 site will generate additional traffic 
movements over and above the fall-back use of that site (as it currently has no 
particular use in planning terms). However, the transport statement reasons that the 
established use of the Tennis Court building (a B8 storage and distribution use) could 
generate a significant number of vehicle movements (including large commercial 
vehicles) if it remained in a business use class. These uses have been assessed 
against the TRICS database, a nationwide dataset that provides a typical traffic 
generation rate for various planning uses in comparative locations across the UK. It is 
suggested by the TRICS data that a B8 use of the Tennis Court building could generate 
up to 25 traffic movements per day, potentially involving larger commercial vehicles. If 
permitted development rights were exercised to change the use of the building into B1 
(office) use this number would be likely to increase.  

6.9 The TRICS data provided by the applicant suggests that two 4-bedroom dwellings 
could generate up to 20 vehicle movements per day (reasonably considered to be 
domestic vehicles). The applicant’s conclusion is that the potential for traffic generation 
from the lawful and permitted uses of the tennis court building would be greater than 
the traffic generation for the proposed residential developments. On that basis, the 
developments are not considered to justify improvements to the Horseshoe Lane or its 
junctions onto Abingdon Road. I do not fully accept that the maximum vehicle 
movements suggested by the TRICS data would realistically materialise over time in 
this location. Burcot is a rural village. Many of the TRICS data examples given are edge 
of town locations so not entirely comparable in my view. The site is located in fairly 
close proximity to Culham Science Centre and the larger settlements of Dorchester-on-
Thames and Berinsfield so some level of potential future commercial use must be 
reasonably accepted. 

6.10 The County Council Highways Liaison Officer has reviewed the Transport Statement 
and has offered no objection in terms of the impact of the development on users of the 
public highway. It was informally agreed that the maximum vehicle movements 
(assumed to be generated by the fall-back uses) are unlikely to be realistically reached 
given the rural village location and condition of the private road. However, it was 
acknowledged that commercial storage and business uses are not uncommon in rural 
village locations across the district, so some level of commercial vehicle use is 
accepted. The proposed residential conversions would prevent more intensive 
commercial uses being established which is considered to be to the merit of the 
proposals in terms of highway impacts.

6.11 Notwithstanding the above assessment, negotiations were ongoing with the applicant 
over the specific highway impacts of the Plot 3 development (as assessed on its 
individual site impacts there is no viable fall-back use). A tree in proximity to the original 
access location was also placed under TPO during the early stages of the application 
assessment. As such, a revised site layout plan was submitted. This included the 
creation of additional (and better located) passing places to directly serve the stretch of 
the Horseshoe Lane skirting the site. I note third party objections that suggest the 
proposed passing places are not proposed to be created in the most useful locations 
but, I must accept they are on land within the applicant’s ownership so can realistically 
be constructed. In my view, this is sufficient to mitigate the impact of the new dwelling 
proposed for the Plot 3 site. Planning conditions can be used to ensure they are 
constructed prior to the first occupation of the development. 

6.12 In my view, there is an argument that mitigation can be sought to minimise potential 
damage to the lane during the construction period of the development. If damage is 
caused it appears reasonable to require the private road is reinstated to its condition 
prior to the construction works taking place. Seeking improvements to the lane (over 

Page 93



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

and above its existing condition) would be unreasonable as they are not considered to 
be required to mitigate the development and such a requirement would be straying into 
private, rather than public interests. A construction traffic and environmental 
management plan (CTEMP) can be required (by condition) to be submitted prior to the 
commencement of the development. 

6.13 On balance, I am satisfied that subject to the recommended conditions the 
development would not conflict with the aims of SOCS policy CSQ3 or SOLP policies 
D1, D2, G2, H4, T1 or T2. 

6.14
Impact on neighbours
Third party concerns have been raised over the impact of the new dwelling on 
neighbouring residential amenities (particularly those of the occupiers of Creek End to 
the north). The SODG sets out minimum separation distances that will preserve privacy 
to neighbouring occupiers. In this case, the separation distances between the proposed 
dwelling at the Plot 3 site and neighbouring dwellings are greatly over the minimum 
recommended distances. The closest neighbouring dwelling at Creek End to the north 
shares a densely vegetated boundary with the site. Some mutual overlooking from 
upper floor windows could occur, but this would be mostly screened by existing trees 
and hedges (proposed to be retained) and would be over more than sufficient 
separation distances. 

6.15 On balance, I am satisfied the proposal would not cause harm to neighbouring 
amenities and it therefore complies with the aims of SOCS policy CSQ3 and SOLP 
policies D1, D4, G2 and H4.

6.16
Drainage and flood risk
The Plot 3 site is located in Flood Zone 1 and not within an area identified as being at 
risk of surface water flooding (as defined by the Environment Agency flood maps). 
Flood Zones 2 and 3 are located approximately 75 metres to the south. As the site is 
not within Flood Zone 1 the NPPF advises that no Flood Risk Assessment is required, 
and most types of development would be acceptable (in terms of flood risk). However, 
third party comments have raised concerns over surface water flooding that has 
occurred in the wider area (the Horseshoe Lane, part of the Plot 3 site and properties at 
Creek End and Burr Wood to the north). It has been stated that floodwater has run-off 
from farmland to the north and has failed to be captured by highway drainage serving 
the A415. Photos were submitted showing part of the Plot 3 site and Horseshoe Lane 
flooded by surface water. 

6.17 I acknowledge that surface water flooding has occurred in the vicinity of the site but, 
this does not appear to be a commonly occurring issue and is not reflected in the EA’s 
surface water flood maps. It is unreasonable to expect a development of the proposed 
scale and location to be able to increase flood risk or to justify off-site mitigation against 
flooding of adjacent land (for example the private lane could have been upgraded 
historically if local landowners had deemed it necessary). The district council’s 
Drainage Engineer has acknowledged the groundwater flood risk in the area but has 
offered no objection to the scheme. Conditions to secure full foul and surface water 
drainage details are requested (along with the use of permeable hard-surfacing 
materials that can be controlled by a separate condition). I consider these to be 
reasonable details to secure as there may be a need to upgrade the existing drainage 
systems to meet the NPPF para. 163 requirements for the use of sustainable drainage 
and flood resilience measures. The development therefore presents an opportunity for 
the flood risk to the site (and adjacent land) to be reduced, in my view. 

Page 94



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

6.18
Impact on trees
There are a number of mature trees located within, and in proximity to the development 
site.  During the earlier stages of the application assessment several individual trees 
and a small area of woodland were placed under TPO. As a result, a revised site layout 
was submitted. The district’s Forestry Officer subsequently offered no further objection 
subject to tree protection and landscaping conditions being attached. The tree 
protection condition to ensure the satisfactory protection of retained trees and the 
landscaping condition to ensure that trees are planted to screen the development. I do 
not consider that significant amounts of new tree planting would be required as the 
majority of mature trees to be retained offer a good level of screening but, the new 
passing places may require replacement hedges to be planted so I consider the 
requested conditions to be reasonable and necessary to ensure the development 
complies with SOCS policy CSEN1 and SOLP policies C9, D1, G2 and H4. 

6.19
Other matters
The council’s CIL charging schedule applies to relevant proposals from 1 April 2016. 
CIL is a planning charge that local authorities can implement to help deliver 
infrastructure and to support the development of their area, and is primarily calculated 
on the increase in footprint created as a result of the development. In this case CIL 
would be liable for the construction of the new dwelling and any associated 
outbuildings.  

6.20 NPPF Paragraph 38 details the need for Local planning authorities to approach 
planning decisions in a positive and creative way, using the full range of planning tools 
available and working proactively with applicants to secure developments that will 
improve the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area. Subject to 
some minor revisions and clarifications the proposal is now considered to be in 
accordance with the development plan and is a sustainable form of development.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 It is recommended that members grant planning permission as the proposed 

development would help to secure additional housing on an infill site within the built-up 
limits of a ‘smaller village’ where some small-scale provision of new housing is 
supported through the spatial development strategy of the development plan. The 
recommended conditions would safeguard future harm to protected trees, the general 
character and appearance of the area and highway safety. The proposed development 
therefore complies with the development plan and is a sustainable development. 

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
2.1 Planning permission is granted subject to the following conditions;

1. Three-year time limit; 
2. Approved plans;
3. Construction Traffic and Environmental Management Plan (pre-

commencement);
4. Survey of road and required repairs (prior to commencement); 

Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved a condition 
survey of the access road (that extends from the site to the western access 
point of the ‘Horseshoe Lane’ with the A415) shall be undertaken and submitted 
to the local planning authority. Prior to the occupation of the dwelling a scheme 
to restore the road and verges (to its condition prior to the commencement of 
the development) shall be completed in accordance with a written scheme of 
restoration that shall first be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. 

Page 95



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to protect the amenities of 
neighbouring occupiers in accordance with Policies T1 and EP2 of the South 
Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

5. Tree protection; 
6. External materials; 

Construction of the dwelling hereby approved shall not continue above slab 
level until full details of the external materials and finishes to be used in the 
construction of the development have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The written details shall include (as a minimum) 
a photographic example of each material, the material name and 
manufacturer/supplier name. Thereafter the development shall be completed in 
accordance with the approved details. 

Reason: To ensure the development is compatible with its surroundings, to 
protect the character and appearance of the conservation area in accordance 
with Policies CSEN1 and CSQ3 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 
and Policies D1, G2 and H4 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

7. Parking and turning; 
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, the off-road 
parking and turning areas and access road passing places shall be constructed 
in full in accordance with site layout drawing no.S2/P/02 Rev.B and in 
accordance with a written materials specification that shall first be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The written details shall 
include (as a minimum) a photographic example of each material, the material 
name, manufacturer/supplier name and details of the permeability/porousness 
of the material. Thereafter the development shall be completed in accordance 
with the approved details and the parking and turning areas shall be retained 
unobstructed except for the intended use at all times. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to ensure the provision of off-
street car parking in accordance with policies CSEN1 and CSQ3 of the South 
Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 Policies D1, D2, T1 and T2 of the South 
Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

8. Drainage (prior to occupation);
The dwelling hereby approved shall not be occupied or brought into use until it 
has been connected to drainage systems for both foul and surface water 
disposal, the details of which shall first be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the local planning authority. The details submitted shall demonstrate how the 
proposed drainage systems will be compliant with sustainable drainage (SuDS) 
principles. 

Reason: To prevent pollution and to ensure adequate drainage infrastructure is 
provided in accordance with Policies EP1 and EP6 of the South Oxfordshire 
Local Plan 2011. 

9. Site planting scheme;
The dwelling hereby approved shall not be occupied or brought into use until a 
scheme for the planting of trees, shrubs and hedges within the site has been 
carried out in full in accordance with written details that shall first be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The written details 
shall include: 

Page 96



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

- Details of the species, locations and numbers of all trees, shrubs and hedges 
to be planted; 
- written planting and maintenance specifications; 
- Plan showing all trees/hedges to be retained; 
- Plan showing all trees/hedges to be removed. 

In the event of any of the trees, shrubs or hedges planted as part of the 
approved scheme dying or being seriously damaged or destroyed within 5 years 
of the completion of the development, a new tree, shrub or hedge of equivalent 
number and species, or of a species and number as first approved by the Local 
Planning Authority, shall be planted and properly maintained in a position or 
positions first approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: To help to assimilate the development into its surroundings in 
accordance with Policies CSEN1, and CSQ3 of the South Oxfordshire Core 
Strategy 2027 and Policies C9, D1 G2, and H4 of the South Oxfordshire Local 
Plan 2011.

Author:         David Millinship
Contact No:  01235 422600
Email:            planning@southoxon.gov.uk

 

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



Rebanks

Grantchester House

TENNIS
COURT

Creek End

Stamford

Cedar

Thames Lodge

Tanglewood

Fair

Cottage

Grange

Little
The Laurels

The Spinney

The

Riverside

House

The

Burcot House

Chapel

Yellowhammer

House

Beeches

Linden House
Gables

Beech

Northfield

Coach House

1

3

Grantchester House
ABINGDON ROAD

54.9m

Marshfield
Yellowhammer

Waterstone House

Rebanks

Ro
se

ma
ry

Withywindle

Pond

Dr
ain

Boat House

-

01/10/15

location plan

first issued

client name

drawing title

1:1250 @ A2

www.andersonorr.cominfo@andersonorr.com01865 873936

The Studio,   70 Church  Road,   Wheatley,   Oxford,   OX33  1LZ

descriptiondaterevision

status

job/drawing no/revision

scaledrawn

project title

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM THIS
DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY. COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

750

15117-L10

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT
BURCOT
OXON

AC

Appendix 1

P
age 99

A
genda Item

 11

AGould_15
Textbox

AGould_16
Textbox
LOCATION PLAN 1:1250 @ A3 Proposed Erection of a 5 bed detached dwellinghouse and detached garage Land to the south of Creek End, Abingdon Road, Burcot, Oxon, OX14 3DJ       

AGould_17
Textbox

AGould_18
Textbox

AGould_19
Polyline

AGould_20
Polyline



Appendix 2

P
age 100



P
age 101



P
age 102



P
age 103



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

APPLICATION NO. P19/S2517/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 4.10.2019
PARISH WARBOROUGH
WARD MEMBER(S) Sue Cooper

Andrea Powell
APPLICANT Richard Pullen
SITE The Old Post Office 5 Wharf Road Shillingford, OX10 

7EW
PROPOSAL Three bay timber framed & clay tiled roof with oak clad 

garage and store.
GRID REFERENCE 459462 / 192731
OFFICER Neil Davies

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application has been referred to Planning Committee at the request of the local 

member Councillor Sue Cooper.

1.2 The Old Post Office, which is shown on the attached location plan at Appendix 1, is a 
Grade II listed building located in a large plot in a small ribbon of dwellings just off the 
highway south west of the A4074 within the built-up limits of Shillingford and is 
washed over by the Oxford Green Belt. 

1.3 The application site sits within the Shillingford Conservation Area, an area of 
archaeological constraint and a flood zone.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The application seeks planning permission to erect a three-bay timber framed and clay 

tiled roof with oak clad garage and timber store

2.2 The application was upgraded from a householder application to a full application 
following agreement with the applicant that the site for the garage was outside the 
residential curtilage of the dwelling.

2.3 The plans accompanying the application are attached at Appendix 2.  Full copies of 
the supporting documentation and consultation responses are available for inspection 
on the Council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Warborough Parish Council - No objections.

Neighbour representations – Approve (x7)

Neighbour representations – Object (x1)
 Not in keeping with the landscape of the road

Countryside Access – None received

County Archaeological Services (SODC) - No objection subject to conditions.
 Archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Page 105

Agenda Item 12

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S2517/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

 Other than in accordance with the agreed Written Scheme of Investigation a 
staged programme of archaeological evaluation and mitigation shall be carried 
out by the commissioned archaeological organisation in accordance with the 
approved Written Scheme of Investigation

Conservation Officer – Objects
 The application does not comply with NPPF paragraph 196 because it poses 

less than substantial harm to the significance of the conservation area which is 
not outweighed by public benefits. 

 The proposal does not preserve or enhance the character and appearance of 
the conservation area and therefore does not meet the requirements of section 
77 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P19/S0508/HH - Withdrawn (29/03/2019)

New oak framed garage, car port and shed. Reclaimed tiles to match other buildings. 
Oak timber panelling. (as amended by drawing no. 190105C/01 to amend internal 
depth to meet minimum standard received on 28 March 2019)

P18/S2472/PEM – Withdrawn (04/09/2018)
**OFFICE MEETING & LETTER**
Single dwelling.

P62/M1143 - Approved (07/11/1962)
DEMOLITION OF COTTAGE AND ERECTION OF HOUSE WITH ACCESSES

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 Emerging local plan

Paragraph 48 of the NPPF allows for weight to be given to relevant policies in emerging 
plans, unless other material considerations indicate otherwise, and only subject to the 
stage of preparation of the plan, the extent of unresolved objections and the degree of 
consistency of the relevant emerging policies with the NPPF. 

Emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2034.
The council has submitted the Local Plan 2034 to the Planning Inspector for an 
independent examination following public consultation. 
  
On 10 October 2019 the Secretary of State for Housing Communities and Local 
Government issued a Holding Direction on the Council in relation to the emerging Local 
Plan 2034. The holding direction has been made under the provisions of Section 21A of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. This means that the emerging plan 
has 'no effect whilst the direction is in force', this is set out in section 21A(2) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. The emerging Local Plan has no weight 
at this stage.

5.2 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Policies
CSEN2  -  Green Belt protection
CSEN3  -  Historic environment
CSQ3  -  Design
CSR1 - Housing in villages.

5.3 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) policies;
CON5  -  Setting of listed building
CON7  -  Proposals in a conservation area
D1  -  Principles of good design

Page 106

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S0508/HH
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S2472/PEM
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P62/M1143


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
GB4  -  Openness of Green Belt maintained
H13  -  Extension to dwelling
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users

5.4 Neighbourhood Plan policies;
Residents in Warborough and Shillingford voted for the adoption of their neighbourhood 
plan on 4th October 2018. The neighbourhood plans were approved by Council on 
Thursday 11th October 2018 and the plan is now made and must be used to help 
determine planning applications as part of the Development Plan.

Relevant policies:
VC1 – Development principle and the character of the villages.
H3 – Infill development
H5 -  Parking provision.

5.5 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)

5.6 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The main issues in the consideration of this application are;

Impact on the openness and visual amenity of the Oxford Green Belt.
Design and scale of the outbuilding.
Impact on the setting of the Listed Building.
Impact on the Shillingford Conservation Area.
Compliance with Neighbourhood Plan Policies.
Impact on neighbours.
Archaeological constraints.
Impact on trees.
Impact on Highways.
Flood issues.
Other Issues.

6.2 Impact on the openness and visual amenity of the Oxford Green Belt.
The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land 
permanently open; the essential characteristics of Green Belts are their openness and 
their permanence. This is set out in the advice from Central Government in the National 
Planning Policy Framework.

The five purposes of the green belt are;
- to check the unrestricted urban sprawl of large built up areas;
- to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another;
- to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;
- to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and
- to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and 

other urban land.

Page 107



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

6.3 Para 145 of the NPPF advises that a local planning authority should regard the 
construction of new buildings as inappropriate development in the Green Belt except for 
the following purposes;

 Buildings for agriculture and forestry;
 The provision of appropriate facilities (in connection with the existing use of land 

or a change of use) for outdoor sport, outdoor recreation, cemeteries and burial 
grounds and allotments; as long as the facilities preserve the openness of the 
Green Belt and do not conflict with the purposes of including land within it;

 The extension or alteration of a building provided that it does not result in
disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building;

 The replacement of a building, provided the new building is in the same use and 
not materially larger than the one it replaces;

 Limited infilling in villages;
 Limited affordable housing for local community needs under policies set out in

the development plan (including policies for rural exception sites); and
 Limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously 

developed land, whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary 
buildings), which would:
‒ not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the
existing development; or
‒ not cause substantial harm to the openness of the Green Belt, where the
development would re-use previously developed land and contribute to
meeting an identified affordable housing need within the area of the local
planning authority.

6.4 New residential outbuildings are not listed as an exception under paragraph 145 of the 
NPPF. Therefore, it follows that they would represent inappropriate development within 
the Green Belt and would be, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt. Although Policy 
H13 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan does not specifically address outbuildings in 
the Green Belt, this policy is superseded by the policies of the NPPF. As such, the 
principle of the development within the Green Belt is not acceptable.

6.5 There is general acceptance through Inspectorate decisions that outbuildings within 
The Green Belt should be assessed in a similar way to new housing (as infill 
development) which would fall within Policy CSR1 of the Core Strategy (SOCS). It is 
therefore important to establish the settlement strategy for Shillingford which is defined 
in Appendix 4 of the SOCS. Shillingford is split into two areas; Smaller Village to the 
north east of the A4074 and Other Villages to the south west. The application site sits 
to the south west of the A4074 where infill development is restricted to an area of 0.1 
hectares sufficient to accommodate 2-3 houses.

The proposed outbuilding would be sited some 17 metres from the main dwelling close 
to the existing gated entrance and boundary wall to the south in a section of open 
ground, acknowledged to be outside the curtilage of the listed building, resembling a 
small orchard and currently used for off-road parking. This area once accommodated a 
Cottage that was demolished some years ago following planning permission for a new 
dwelling in 1962. Whilst this permission remains extant the garage structure would not 
be not be of the same use and therefore not regarded as an exception to Green Belt 
policy. The area to the south of the house is approximately 28 metres wide, (0.11 
hectares in area), with an additional 31 metres or so to the next residential dwelling, 
also a listed building. 

I am of the opinion that the combined area of land between the residential properties 
forms an important gap in the built-up frontage and reinforces the rural nature of the 

Page 108



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

village and should therefore be considered as a whole rather than individual units. The 
combined area is 0.24 hectares in size and would be sufficient to accommodate 5-6 
houses and far exceeds the limits of CSR1 for an ‘Other Village’. Following the principle 
that infill is defined as ‘The filling of a small gap in an otherwise built-up frontage or on 
other sites within settlements where the site is closely surrounded by buildings’ I believe 
that the significant separation between properties in an area of largely undeveloped 
land which makes a positive contribution in managing the balance of built form and 
openness of the area, would not satisfy the exceptions of the NPPF, Policy CSR1 and 
would be harmful to the openness of the Green Belt. 

Furthermore, I do not consider that there are any ‘very special circumstances’ in this 
case, which would allow for a departure from Green Belt policy. As previously 
highlighted the applicant/agent has acknowledged that the proposed garage structure 
would be located outside the curtilage of the dwelling and as such there would be no 
permitted development fall-back position for the erection of ancillary buildings. 

6.6 Design and scale of the outbuilding. The Old Post Office sits in a generous plot and 
whilst the proposed outbuilding would be located on an existing gravelled parking area 
and lawn at a distance of some 17 metres from the main house it would not have an 
excessively large footprint and or ridge height. It would employ an uncomplicated 
design, avoiding any overtly domestic features such as first floor accommodation and 
dormers. Therefore, I do not consider that the size, scale or design of development 
would result in an over-development of the plot or that it would compete with the main 
dwelling.

6.7 Impact on the setting of the Listed Building. Policy CON5 states that permission will 
not be granted for development which would harm the setting of a listed building whilst 
Policy CSEN3 of the SOCS seeks to conserve and enhance the historic environment. 
The Conservation Officer has no objection per se to the design of the building because 
the scale of the proposed outbuilding is not out of keeping with the size of the plot and it 
is of a traditional and simple design (ie. a subservient domestic garage outbuilding). As 
such, there is no objection to the proposal in terms of impact on the setting of the 
adjacent listed building.

6.8 Impact on the Shillingford Conservation Area. The garage structure would be 
located adjacent to the front of the site close to the road and vehicular entrance. The 
current openness of the site affords views across an orchard and garden associated 
with No.5 Wharf Road with the flatness of the land allowing longer views across 
agricultural land towards the distant Chiltern Hills AONB. The open nature of the site 
makes a positive contribution to the character of the conservation area and enables a 
good appreciation of the setting of the conservation area. Wharf Road has a loose knit 
character with large garden areas and open spaces between dwellings. The 
Conservation Officer has objected to the scheme on the grounds that the proposal 
would consolidate the built form on the frontage and erode the loose knit character. 
There is agreement with the supporting documentation submitted by the agent advising 
'The character of the
village is formed by the juxtaposition of dwellings and other buildings along Wharf Road 
and their relationship with the street. Shillingford was originally an agricultural 
settlement and many of the buildings have agricultural origins. There are gaps in the 
built-up frontage but where these exist, they serve to reinforce the rural nature of the 
village.'  That said, whilst the design of the building is in keeping with the agricultural 
and rural nature of the village, it would nevertheless result in the infilling of a gap which 
is making a positive contribution in managing the balance of built form and openness.              
Whilst garaging is desirable the Conservation Officer is unconvinced that it is a 
necessity that would justify the harm caused to the character and appearance of the 

Page 109



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

Conservation Area especially the distant views of the Chiltern Hills; there is an existing 
garage and an existing hardstanding on the frontage along with the area of gravel 
inside the gated access to the garden/orchard area of the site currently used for 
parking.

In summary the application does not comply with NPPF paragraph 196 because it 
poses less than substantial harm which is not outweighed by public benefits. The 
proposal does not preserve or enhance the character and appearance of the 
conservation area and therefore does not meet the requirements of section 77 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

6.9 Compliance with Neighbourhood Plan Policies. The Warborough and Shillingford 
Neighbourhood Plans (WaSNP) has been made and holds full weight in the decision-
making process with the relevant policies relating to this application highlighted earlier 
in the report. The scale, design and materials would give rise to a high-quality structure 
that would sit to the south of the main house where open views of the countryside are 
available to the east and west. Located within the Shillingford Conservation Area the 
Neighbourhood Plan highlights the need to avoid blocking off the open views to the 
river and the Clumps. The overall height of the structure would sit at 5.5 metres, some 
3.5 metres higher than the boundary wall. Whilst it would be difficult to defend the 
argument that it blocked off views of the river and Clumps from any public vantage point 
it would nevertheless prevent longer views from Wharf Road across agricultural land 
towards the distant Chiltern Hills AONB; a point recognised and highlighted by the 
Conservation Officer.

The WaSNP policy regarding Infill (H3) defines Infill as a small gap in an otherwise 
continuous built up frontage capable of accommodating one or two houses, the 
development of which will not involve the outward extension of the built-up areas of the 
villages, is not considered back land (building in the rear garden of properties, which
can require unsuitable access and reduce the privacy of adjoining properties) and does 
not result in harm to the conservation areas’ rural character or appearance through loss 
of glimpsed views to greenery beyond the building line. 

In the case of Warborough and Shillingford infill development is identified as a site that 
is:
• between two buildings and capable of accommodating one or two houses
• not an important open feature that adds to the character of the area
• visually linked in the sense that the infill does not detract from the existing frontage
• not considered backland (building in the rear garden of properties, which can require 
unsuitable access and reduce the privacy of adjoining properties)

As highlighted earlier in this report the distance between the two residential dwellings is 
in excess of 30 metres and 0.24 hectares in area; a size capable of accommodating 5-6 
dwellings and therefore contrary to Policy H3.

Both I and the Conservation Officer share the view that the gaps in the built-up frontage 
serve to reinforce the rural nature of the village and the proposed garage would result 
in an unacceptable loss of a gap which is making a positive contribution in managing 
the balance of built form and openness that allow views of the Chiltern Hills beyond the 
boundary line; again contrary to Policy H3. 

Whilst garaging is desirable as it would provide additional covered and secure off-road 
parking which would comply with the parking policy of the Neighbourhood Plan its 
necessity would not justify the harm caused to the character and appearance of the 
Conservation Area given existing parking arrangements on the site that could be 

Page 110



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

developed through increasing the gravelled area inside the gated access to the 
garden/orchard area of the site currently used for parking.

I am therefore of the opinion that the proposal does not accord with Policies H3 and 
VC1 of the Neighbourhood Plan

6.10 Impact on neighbours. The proposal is single storey in height and contains no side 
windows. Sitting behind a high boundary wall over 30 metres from the only neighbour 
affected by the development at 15 Wharfe Road, to the south, I am of the view that the 
proposal would not materially harm the amenities of neighbouring properties.

6.11 Archaeological constraints. The application was subject to consultation with the 
County Archaeological Officer who has commented on the archaeological significance 
of the site. It is therefore likely that further archaeological features will be encountered 
by this development. He has no objection to the proposal but has recommended two 
conditions to require the submission of a written scheme of investigation (WSI) and the 
implementation of the WSI.

6.12 Impact on trees. There are several trees on the site, the largest of which sits close to 
the entrance to the proposed garage. These are automatically protected by virtue of 
their location within the Conservation Area. Informal discussion with the Forestry Officer 
confirmed that the proposal is unlikely to require the removal of any trees on the site, 
however their longevity should be secured through a General Tree Protection condition 
had the proposal been acceptable in other terms.

6.13 Impact on Highways. The application site sits on Wharf Road where dwellings are 
generally located to the east side of the highway, a farm and one other house sit on the 
opposite side of the road close to where the entrance to the proposal is located. A 
single garage is attached to the host dwelling with sufficient space to accommodate a 
second car in front of the doors with additional off -road parking provided on a gravelled 
area inside the entrance gates to the south of the main house. The entrance to the 
proposed site is set back from the road with good visibility splays along the road. 
Currently used for access and egress for parking I am of the view that the new garage 
complex would not have a significant impact on highway safety.

6.14 Flood issues. The site sits with Flood Zone 2 and partially in Flood Zone 3. This is 
however a minor development to a non-residential building. It is not envisaged that 
there would be any material increase to ground level following the development and 
with no indication of power requirement through trenchwork there are no flood issues 
likely to affect the proposed garage.

6.15 Other Issues. The Council’s CIL charging schedule has been adopted and will apply to 
relevant proposals from 1 April 2016. CIL is a planning charge that local authorities can 
implement to help deliver infrastructure and to support the development of their area, 
and is primarily calculated on the increase in floorspace created as a result of the 
development. In this case CIL is not liable as the proposed development would not 
result in a floorspace increase in excess of 100 square metres.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 Your officers recommend that planning permission should be refused.  The site lies 

within the Oxford Green Belt, where there is a general presumption against new 
development in order to conserve the special and historic character of the City and to 
preserve the countryside outside it. The proposed garage would represent 
inappropriate development within the Green Belt and is therefore by definition harmful. 
Having regard to the position of the building in this open and undeveloped part of the 

Page 111



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 December 2019

site the development would significantly harm the openness of the Green Belt. There 
are no 'very special circumstances' that would outweigh the harm caused by virtue of 
inappropriateness or to the openness of the Green Belt. The proposal is contrary to 
Policy CSEN2 of the adopted South Oxfordshire Core Strategy, Policy GB4 of the 
South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011, Green Belt policy of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and Policies H3 and VC1 of the Warborough and Shillingford 
Neighbourhood Plan. The proposal would also fill an important open space in the 
Shillingford conservation area which would be harmful to the character and appearance 
of the Conservation Area contrary to the requirements of section 77 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Policy CSEN3 of the South 
Oxfordshire Core Strategy and Policy CON7 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan and 
does not comply with NPPF paragraph 196.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 Refusal of planning permission for the following reasons;

1 : The site lies within the Oxford Green Belt, where there is a general 
      presumption against new development in order to conserve the special and   
      historic character of the City and to preserve the countryside outside it. The 
      proposed garage would not constitute limited infilling and would be 
      inappropriate development within the Green Belt and is therefore by definition
      harmful. Having regard to the position of the building in this open and 
      undeveloped part of the site the development would significantly harm the 
      openness of the Green Belt. There are no 'very special circumstances' that 
      would outweigh the harm caused by virtue of inappropriateness or to the 
      openness of the Green Belt. The proposal is contrary to Policy CSEN2 of the 
      adopted South Oxfordshire Core Strategy, Policy GB4 of the South 
      Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011, Green Belt policy of the National Planning 
      Policy Framework and Policies H3 and VC1 of the Warborough and 
      Shillingford Neighbourhood Plan.

2. The provision of a building on this open site would consolidate the built form 
     on the frontage of Wharf Road, eroding the loose knit and rural character of 
     this part of the Shillingford conservation area contrary to the provisions of 
     section 77 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
     1990, Policy CSEN3 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy, Policy CON7 and
     G2 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan, Policy VC1 of the Warborough and 
     Shillingford Neighbourhood Plan and paragraph 196 of the NPPF.

Author:          Neil Davies
Contact No:   01235 422600
Email:            planning@southoxon.gov.uk

 

Page 112



Appendix 1

Page 113

Agenda Item 12



Appendix 2

Page 114



DATE DRAWN

DRAWN CHECKED

SCALE

DRG. NO.

DRAWING

DATE ISSUED

T.J. Crump Oakwrights Ltd
The Lakes, Swainshill,
Hereford, HR4 7PU

+44 (0)1432 353353 
enquiries@oakwrights.co.uk

DRAWINGS PRODUCED BY

CLIENT

SITE ADDRESS

PROJECT

DEPARTMENT

This is an indicative drawing for estimating 
purposes only; to depict how the frame may 
look. They should not be seen as the final 
design. If a Planning application should be 
agreed between the Client and T.J. Crump 
Oakwrights Ltd, the watermark will then be 
removed.

© This drawing, its contents, and all information contained therein 
is protected by Copyright. It may be used once only for its intended 
purpose under a contract with Oakwrights Ltd, but not for any 
other use or purpose. This drawing is for Planning purposes and 
does not constitute a construction issue drawing. All setting out 
dimensions and levels are indicative and are subject to detailed site 
survey and site conditions. The Client and their agent are 
responsible for ensuring that Building Control and construction 
drawings are carried out following Planning approval. Scaling from 
this drawing is for Local Planning Authority information only.

REV.

6.
00

 m

3.00 m

9.62 m

03.01.19 30.07.19

OCB

3Bay Little Gloucester

5 Wharf Road, Shillingford, 
Wallingford, Oxfordshire, OX10 7EW

Mr Pullen

- - - -

190105

IS

-01

_
1:1

1:100

0 0.1m

0 10m2 4 6 8

ESTIMATING

1:100 @ A3

A

GROUND FLOOR PLAN 
Scale 1:100

LEFT ELEVATION
Scale 1:100

REAR ELEVATION
Scale 1:100

RIGHT ELEVATION
Scale 1:100

FRONT ELEVATION
Scale 1:100

P
age 115



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	7 P19/S2138/FUL - Land to the north of Fields End Farmhouse, Parsons Lane/Chaucer Court, Ewelme, OX10 6HP
	Appendices 1-2
	Appendix 1 - Site plan
	Appendix 2 Elevation and Floor Plan Proposed drwgno 1902-12
	Sheets and Views
	12


	Appendix 2 Site Plan Proposed drwgno 1902-11
	Sheets and Views
	11




	8 P19/S2865/RM - Land at Woodcote Road, South Stoke, RG8 0JJ
	Appendices 1-2
	Appendix 1
	Sheets
	L01 - LOCATION PLAN


	Appendix 2a
	Sheets
	PP1013 - PROPOSED BLOCK PLAN


	Appendix 2b
	Sheets
	PP1012 - PROPOSED SITE PLAN


	Appendix 2c
	Sheets
	PE1010 - PROPOSED ELEVATIONS
	PP1030 - PROPOSED FLOOR PLANS


	Appendix 2d
	Sheets
	PE2010 - PROPOSED ELEVATIONS


	Appendix 2e
	Sheets
	PP2030 - PROPOSED FLOOR PLANS


	Appendix 2f
	Sheets
	PE4011 - PROPOSED ELEVATIONS


	Appendix 2g
	Sheets
	PP4031 - PROPOSED FLOOR PLANS


	Appendix 2h
	Sheets
	PE5011 - PROPOSED ELEVATIONS


	Appendix 2i
	Sheets
	PE1010 - PROPOSED ELEVATIONS


	Appendix 2j
	Sheets
	PP5031 - PROPOSED FLOOR PLANS




	9 P18/S4261/FUL - The Chapel, Burcot House, Abingdon Road, Burcot, OX14 3DJ
	Appendices1-2
	Appendix 1 Location Plan drwgno LOC 001
	Appendix 2a Site Layout Proposed drwgno S1 P 07
	Appendix 2b Ground Floor Plan Existing drwgno MS01A
	Appendix 2c Elevation Plan Existing drwgno S1 MS 02
	Appendix 2d South Elevation Existing drwgno S1 MS 04
	Appendix 2e Ground and First Floor Plans Proposed drwgno P03C
	Appendix 2f Elevation Plan Proposed drwgno S1 P 06A
	Appendix 2g North East and West Elevation Proposed drwgno S1 P 05


	10 P19/S0025/FUL - The Tennis Court, land to the east of Burcot House, Abingdon Road Burcot, OX14 3DJ
	Appendices 1-2
	Appendix 1 Location Plan drwgno 15117-TP10
	Sheets
	TP10 - Location Plan


	Appendix 2a Proposed site plan - 15117-TP13-A
	Sheets
	TP13 - Site Plan


	Appendix 2b Elevations Existing drwgno 15117-TSU03
	Appendix 2c Floor Plans Existing drwgno 15117-TSU06
	Appendix 2d Elevations Proposed drwgno 15117-TP12
	Sheets
	TP12 - Elevations


	Appendix 2e Floor Plans Proposed drwgno 15117-TP11
	Sheets
	TP11 - Floor Plans




	11 P19/S0058/FUL - Land to the south of Creek End, Abingdon Road, Burcot, OX14 3DJ
	Appendices 1-2
	Appendix 1 Location Plan drwgno LOC001
	Appendix 2a Site Plan drwgno S2.P.02 rev B
	Appendix 2b Ground and First Floor Plan Proposed drwgno S2.P.03 A
	Appendix 2c Elevations Proposed drgno S2.P.04
	Appendix 2d Floor Plan and Elevations Garage Proposed drwgno S2.P.05


	12 P19/S2517/FUL - The Old Post Office, 5 Wharf Road, Shillingford, OX10 7EW
	Appendices 1-2
	1 LOC Plan drwgno 001
	2 Site Plan drwgno 002
	2a Composite Proposed drwgno 190105-01 A





